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OUR EMPLOYEES ARE THE GOLDEN THREAD THAT RUNS THROUGH
OUR PORT. WE RECOGNISE THEIR SIGNIFICANT CONTRIBUTIONS ACROSS
THE ORGANISATION OVER A CHALLENGING YEAR.
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Chairman’s Statement
THE BUSINESS
The ongoing Covid-19 pandemic and final exit from
the European Union both ensured that the Port of
Dover’s profile remained high during 2021, notably
after the incredible scenes of Christmas 2020 that
combined the two issues – with Brexit contingency
measures being used to deal with border disruption
issues related to Covid.
Both have tested the resilience of Dover, but the
professionalism of our staff has ensured that we
continued to provide a safe and reliable facility and
24/7 operation throughout the year. Importantly,
following much commentary on Dover during
Brexit, the Port clearly remains the key maritime
gateway between the United Kingdom and
European Union.

Group performance was assisted by strong financial
management, continuing to control costs through
an uncertain economic time, and this contributed to
an increased headline EBITDA (Earnings Before
Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) of
£26.5 million [2020: £20.3 million].
This solid result, under extremely challenging
economic conditions, has been achieved without
any direct financial support, either for adapting to
new post-Brexit border arrangements or for
supporting such a critical gateway for bringing in
essential goods to the nation throughout Covid.

Although tourist volumes were, regrettably, still
heavily impeded by the pandemic, the core ferry
business handled near-normal freight volumes and
welcomed a new and additional operator as well as
new tonnage, reflecting the continued market
preference for all that the shortest crossing to
Europe still offers. Meanwhile, other business
streams adapted to a new way of working with
Covid, notably the successful resumption of the
cruise business during the year, following an
exceptional amount of planning and preparation by
the Port’s employees working with the wider
industry and at Dover itself.

We maintained a stable cash position of £57.3
million [2020: £54.3 million], partly thanks to lower
capital spend during the year, but we still need to
fund significant planned investments in a major
renewal of the ferry terminal arising from postBrexit border checks as well as the next stage of the
Dover Western Docks Revival project. Whilst
progressing the design for our important Outbound
Controls Project, designed specifically to enable the
Port to adapt to the inevitable longer post-Brexit
transaction times at the border by doubling French
passport control capacity, reordering the controls to
detect non-compliant traffic before the French
border and adapting to further EU immigration
system changes; we continue to seek Government
support for its delivery.

The Port’s ability to keep going, retain core business
and adapt to meet the challenges of the pandemic,
whilst developing new opportunities, demonstrated
exceptional resilience across the Port of Dover Group,
with all business areas generating more revenue
compared to 2020. This contributed to an overall
Group revenue of £68.7 million [2020: £61.4 million].

Within this context, the Port continued to do all it
could in working with its ferry operators,
government departments and agencies as well as
local authority partners to ensure a smooth
transition back to normal operations following the
removal of Brexit contingency measures, including
the holding facility at Manston and Operation Brock.

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

THE PORT CLEARLY REMAINS

THE KEY MARITIME
GATEWAY
BETWEEN THE UNITED KINGDOM
AND EUROPEAN UNION
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THE BOARD
There was one new appointment to the Board during
the year, that of the Port’s Chief Financial Officer
(CFO) Jonathan Pascoe, who replaced outgoing CFO
Shaun Pottage. I would like to thank Shaun for his
contribution in helping to steer the Port through
uncertain economic times as well as his role as
project sponsor for delivery of the major Dover
Western Docks Revival project, for which he played a
leading role in securing the necessary funds.
Deputy Chairman, Perry Glading, also completed his
initial term on the Board in the summer. Perry

brought considerable industry insight and
experience to the Board and played a significant
role in supporting me through some of the more
difficult decisions that have had to be made during
the year. His wide port industry experience and
understanding of logistics and supply chains has
deepened the Board’s understanding of the
national role of the ferry port and the
opportunities to develop the cargo business. I am
therefore pleased that Perry has continued to
support the Port as an adviser to the Chief
Executive and the Executive Team.

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

OUR STAFF
The Secretary of State for Transport, the Rt Hon Grant
Shapps MP, visited the Port during the year to meet and
thank members of our team for their heroic efforts
during the French border closure of Christmas 2020.
I have referred already to the professionalism of our
employees, but I would also like to add my own thanks
to them for not only getting the Port through that
difficult period, but for their dedication to keeping the
Port open and fully operational throughout the whole
of the pandemic and as the UK has adapted to new
trading rules outside of the EU.

It is no exaggeration to say that what our employees
have achieved at Dover to keep trade flowing under
such an unprecedented set of circumstances has
helped communities and businesses across the
nation keep going, once again demonstrating the
resilience that is part of Dover’s DNA.

IT IS NO EXAGGERATION TO SAY THAT WHAT OUR
EMPLOYEES HAVE ACHIEVED AT DOVER TO KEEP TRADE
FLOWING UNDER SUCH AN UNPRECEDENTED SET OF
CIRCUMSTANCES HAS HELPED COMMUNITIES AND
BUSINESSES ACROSS THE NATION KEEP GOING...

|
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OUTLOOK
The Port has emerged from Brexit resilient and
cautiously optimistic as it has worked hard to
rebuild its business streams following the
considerable impact of the pandemic. The recent
suspension of ferry services by P&O Ferries has also
given rise to operational challenges albeit it is not
expected to have any material financial impact on
the Port. It is being mitigated with additional
sailings provided by the other ferry operators.
With a demonstrable and enduring market
preference for Dover in the core ferry business,
opportunities for growth and renewal in the
cruise and cargo business, and an exciting time
ahead for the property and marina businesses as
we prepare for the transition to the new marina
surrounded by a more vibrant waterfront, Dover
is well placed to reset.
This does not come without its challenges and a
return to anywhere near normal tourist volumes
in the ferry business will be considerably more
difficult to handle smoothly without the key
additional infrastructure delivered by our
Outbound Controls Project. Transaction times at
the border are of course now longer, and with
further changes to border arrangements
scheduled for Autumn 2022, ensuring the Port
has the support it needs from the Government
will be critical moving forward.
Such support will also be necessary in helping the
Port to transition to a carbon-free future so that
all of the intrinsic benefits provided by the
shortest crossing to Europe can be enjoyed by the
nation for the long term.

Richard Everitt
Chairman

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

...A DEMONSTRABLE AND ENDURING MARKET PREFERENCE
FOR DOVER IN THE CORE FERRY BUSINESS...
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Chief Executive’s Statement
IN MEETING THE CHALLENGES OF BREXIT AND COVID, 2021 WAS A YEAR THAT
DEMONSTRATED THE CONTINUED IMPORTANCE OF THE PORT’S ROLE IN INTERNATIONAL
TRADE AND TOURISM FOR THE NATION. AS SUCH, ALONGSIDE THE TASK OF ADAPTING
TO NEW PROTOCOLS, IT WAS ALSO A TIME FOR POSITIVELY REALIGNING RELATIONSHIPS,
INCLUDING WITH THE GOVERNMENT AND THE COMMUNITY.

UNDERSTANDING THE PORT OF DOVER’S ROLE IN THE UK
To gain the support we need, it is vital that there is
a clear understanding and appreciation of the value
of the role played by the Port of Dover. As well as
the market’s practical demonstration of that value in
choosing to operate through Dover, much work
took place during the year to establish a clear
understanding within the Government and wider
political sphere of the non-substitutable national
economic role played by Dover and the Short Straits
as a whole.
Such activity involved a close working relationship
with the Dover MP, Natalie Elphicke, as well as the
wider group of Kent MPs. It also involved
considerable engagement with key parliamentary
committees and their inquiries, including the House
of Lords Justice and Home Affairs Committee and
the Transport Select Committee. The Port was also
pleased to host Transport Committee Chair, Huw
Merriman MP, on a panel discussion about
delivering the competitive edge for Global Britain
through Dover and the Short Straits at the
Conservative Party Conference.

To support our work with the Government, we
coordinated activity with our ferry operators and
actively engaged a number of key trade
associations, including Logistics UK, Road Haulage
Association, British Ports Association,
Confederation of Passenger Transport UK, the
Coach Tourism Association and the European Tour
Operator Association.
This political and industry coalition provided a
strong unified voice to raise a number of key issues
with government departments, including the need
for funding our Outbound Controls Project,
improved road infrastructure (specifically A2
Lydden-Dover dualling) and funding to adapt to
becoming zero carbon.
However, there was one issue in particular on which
the coalition was especially mobilised to voice
urgent concern. That was the impending
introduction of the EU Entry Exit System (EES),
involving a series of biometric checks that, as
currently prescribed, would have to be conducted in

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

THE PORT OF DOVER HANDLES

£144bn OF TRADE
IN GOODS AND 33% OF THE
UK’S TRADE WITH THE EU
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person at the port under the supervision of the
Police Aux Frontieres on every British and nonSchengen zone citizen passing through the border.
Through political engagement and through a
prominent presence across the media, we
consistently raised the need for government action
throughout the year.
In order to garner government support on EES and
other issues, it was important to realign the mindset
on the Short Straits from ‘Brexit problem to
mitigate’ to ‘post-Brexit Global Britain opportunity’.
To help achieve this, the Port (supported by Logistics
UK) hosted the Short Straits Summit in London at
which new research and analysis was showcased by
leading independent economic consultancy Oxera.
Attended by senior politicians and industry experts,

the summit revealed how the Port of Dover handled
£144bn of trade in goods and 33% of the UK’s trade
with the EU, a major part of the overall Short Straits
role responsible for almost 60% of the UK’s trade
with the EU, the nation’s largest trading partner.
I would like to thank all those within the Dover port
community – our employees, ferry operators, border
agencies – who have worked hard over a long
period of time on the operational aspects of Brexit,
the systems and solutions, and Government liaison. I
would also wish to recognise the excellent support
we have had from our industry partners and Kent
politicians (MPs and local authorities) so far as we
continue to do all we can to adapt to life outside of
the EU. This work has been essential, knowing that
Dover remains the market’s port of choice.

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

SUPPORTING THE PORT’S BUSINESS STREAMS
Alongside the challenges I have already mentioned,
the Port of Dover team worked hard to transition
back to normal operations without the use of
Manston airfield or Operation Brock. This was done
smoothly and the traffic kept on flowing as
confidence in Dover remained high. Such was the
market confidence in the route and the
determination to preserve and maximise its
advantages, that we welcomed a new and additional
operator – Irish Ferries – with the first official sailing
to Calais taking place on 29th June. Later in the
summer, DFDS introduced a newbuild – Cote d’Opale
– which is the longest ship on the Channel.
Preparing for the arrival of new and additional
tonnage took much planning and significant
cross-departmental resource to deliver in the middle
of the pandemic, including through our marine,

engineering, operations and estates teams, which we
did successfully. At the same time, P&O Ferries and
DFDS, announced a new space charter agreement,
designed to further improve the Dover ferry product
by increasing flexibility, capacity and resilience for
customers.
A significant year for our cruise business, 2021 saw
Dover play a central role in the restart of the cruise
industry. Working with a range of industry partners
including the UK Chamber of Shipping, Cruise Lines
International Association (CLIA), Cruise Britain and
the many cruise lines, the Port made a significant
contribution to the establishment of industry
protocols. This work led to the successful reintroduction firstly of ‘round Britain’ domestic cruises
from Dover with TUI Marella Explorer and secondly
international cruises later in the season.

WE WELCOMED A NEW AND ADDITIONAL
OPERATOR – IRISH FERRIES – WITH THE
FIRST OFFICIAL SAILING TO CALAIS TAKING
PLACE ON 29TH JUNE

|
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I pay tribute to all those colleagues involved in
re-establishing this important business for Dover.
As well as bringing cruising back, Dover’s continuing
appeal was also evident through a number of
exciting developments. This included the start of
Hurtigruten Expeditions’ first ever year-round UK
departure, with its ship – MS Maud – the only ship of
its kind to offer such cruises. The Port welcomed the
arrival of the world’s tallest cruise ship, Tradewind
Voyages’ brand-new vessel, Golden Horizon, with
Dover being selected as her chosen UK departure
port for a series of UK voyages. Dover also hosted
Fred Olsen’s new flagship, Bolette, as the cruise line’s
home port, with fireworks and water cannon salutes
from the Port’s tugs marking the occasion. Alongside
the exciting line up of cruise ships, we also looked to
enhance our overall service to customers, with the
appointment of leading cruise passenger valet
parking provider Cruise and Passenger Services (CPS)
offering an enhanced parking and transit experience.
In the cargo business, the growth and diversification
agenda continued, with the Port securing its first
regular breakbulk service with Soreidom & Caribbean
Line moving cargo between Europe, the Caribbean and
the North-East coast of South America. Dover Cargo
Terminal also welcomed its largest steel and first-ever
deep-sea vessel, with the MV Almar discharging 7,000
tonnes of steel as Dover’s reliability in handling large
scale commodities to support British industry during
challenging times was acknowledged by Parker Steel.
Supporting the Port’s ability to now successfully process
every range of cargo in the industry, the cargo terminal
increased its ability to deliver fast, efficient, and expert
operations to customers through the purchase of two
new Liebherr cranes.

The marina and property businesses focused on
activity that took us a step closer to the full
realisation of the waterfront vision; a place for
marina berth holders, visitors and the local
community to enjoy. Clock Tower Square was
officially opened by the Mayor of Dover, Cllr
Gordon Cowan, in time for the summer and the
adjacent Marina Curve welcomed a selection of
food and drink pop-ups to start creating footfall
and interest in our new public area. This part of the
waterfront has combined fresh design features with
artefacts from Dover’s history to create a
contemporary site that also celebrates the Port’s
rich heritage.
Towards the end of the year, our development
partners Bride Hall and The Electric Motel Company
were successful in achieving planning approval for a
commercial development on the Marina Curve. The
scheme will deliver The Electric Motel, providing
guests with an affordable luxury experience
supported by “off- grid” green energy for its future
operations, including café and bar. Together with a
similarly sustainable and adjoining mixed-use
scheme, the development will provide vibrancy and
interest and demonstrates the Port’s commitment to
delivery of its original vision at a crucial time for
helping Dover move forward out of the damaging
economic impacts of Covid.
The ongoing realisation of the vision is thanks to the
hard work of those who have continued to create
the physical infrastructure of the waterfront, part of
the Dover Western Docks Revival project, and those
who have ensured that we retain keen commercial
interest, both achieved amidst the disruptive
backdrop of the pandemic.

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

2021 SAW DOVER PLAY A CENTRAL ROLE
IN THE RESTART OF THE CRUISE INDUSTRY.
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REALIGNING THE STRATEGIC DIRECTION OF THE ORGANISATION
With a huge amount of effort having gone in to
preparing for, getting through, and re-emerging
from Brexit and Covid, we looked to prime ourselves
for the next chapter in the evolution of the Port of
Dover. Buoyed by encouraging market commitment
to Dover across our business streams and with a
growing sense of strategic purpose in our future
national role, we looked to put a number of key
pillars in place during the year.
One such pillar was the establishment of a new and
broader executive team, harnessing a wider range
of skills to build long-term business success. A key
role of the team was to start planning the roadmap
for building the capability within the organisation
and for delivering future capacity to enhance and
grow our businesses.
A core activity was starting the corporate planning
process, with a strong focus on how the
organisation will transition to operating a
decarbonised port, also being cognisant of the
commitments agreed at the global COP26 climate
conference in Glasgow, particularly around the
Clydebank Declaration on the establishment of
green shipping corridors. This encouraged us in
taking an important step in the ferry business,
working with the University of Kent, Warwick
Manufacturing Group, P&O Ferries and Schneider
Electric on a research and innovation project to
investigate steps towards decarbonisation of the
cross-Channel ferry fleet.
Known as the Dover Clean Ferry Power consortium,
the project looked at opportunities for both hybrid
and fully electric propulsion vessels. It has been
making an important contribution to the
Government’s Clean Maritime Plan as we look to
understand how to capitalise on the unique benefits

that Dover offers today as the shortest crossing to
Europe. Importantly, insights gained will also have
the potential to benefit our cruise and cargo
operations and the vessels calling at Dover.
Our decarbonisation agenda sits within the
framework of our continuing commitment to
supporting the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals, which cover a wide range of
topics. In delivering a sustainable future, we were
pleased to launch a new and diverse apprenticeship
scheme targeted at local young people to be
nurtured as the next generation of employees
contributing to the success of one of the world’s
premier ports.
Covering finance, engineering, marine, HR,
marketing and procurement specialisms, the Port
worked with community partners including schools
and colleges to attract local talent to build their
overall ability and technical expertise. The resilience
shown by our employees over the past few years
demonstrates just how critical it is to have a
determined and skilled workforce. As we adapt our
business to a sustainable future, it will be equally
important to have a workforce with the right skills
to operate in it.
We also want a positive and sustainable relationship
with our local community. In addition to our direct
local economic impact in terms of employment,
support of local services through the activities of the
Port, and funding support for local community
groups (important during Covid), we also want to
have a relationship whereby we suitably balance
port operational requirements with community
interests. We therefore worked hard with a number
of local stakeholders during the year, notably the
Dover Sea Angling Association, to come to a

THE RESILIENCE SHOWN BY OUR EMPLOYEES OVER THE PAST
FEW YEARS DEMONSTRATES JUST HOW CRITICAL IT IS TO
HAVE A DETERMINED AND SKILLED WORKFORCE.

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

mutually agreeable position whereby port security
requirements and public access on certain parts of
the port estate could be satisfactorily
accommodated together. Such a positive and
constructive approach from all those involved was
instrumental in delivering a successful outcome and
was a hallmark of how the Port wishes to work with
its community stakeholders going forward.
Such a collaborative approach extended to how the
Port can bring the community onto its estate more
generally. Towards the end of the year, we
announced a new partnership with Destination

Dover to create a new and exciting events strategy.
The aim will be to maximise the public areas of the
waterfront so that it becomes a focal point for
community activity and enjoyment through a host
of quality events throughout the year.
The achievements of 2021, that have enabled the
Port to look forward with confidence, have been
thanks to a great team. That team has been guided
by an overriding Covid-safe approach, which has
been essential in ensuring our operations could
continue uninterrupted during another very
challenging year of the pandemic.
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OUR FOCUS ON
SUSTAINABILITY WILL
DRIVE US FORWARD

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

LOOKING FORWARD
Our key pillars of success going forward will be the efficient delivery of
key infrastructure and other projects, with strong finances to support
them and an exciting and ambitious corporate plan.
Last year’s Short Straits Summit provided an excellent platform from
which to build engagement and support on immediate issues as well as
set out the long-term benefits of ensuring the route remains resilient.
Such a journey will nevertheless be challenging and require support from
the Government, our people, our customers and our wider stakeholders.
We will also continue to seek government support on key issues that will
ensure Dover can keep delivering for the nation – such as the Outbound
Controls Project, a solution to the EU Entry Exit System and necessary
road investment.
Our focus on sustainability will drive us forward, enabling us to keep the Port
of Dover at the heart of international trade and tourism, and contributing
value as a key gateway, employer, business and community partner.

J. Douglas Bannister
Chief Executive
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Chief Financial Officer’s Report
THE BUSINESS CONTINUES TO BE BUILT
ON THE FOUNDATION OF
UNINTERRUPTED, EASY AND SMOOTH
FLOW OF PEOPLE, CARGO AND
VEHICLES AND THE VESSELS THEY
TRAVEL UPON, SUPPORTED BY A
STRONG PROPERTY BUSINESS AND AN
AWARD-WINNING MARINA. THIS
BUSINESS MODEL HAS CONTINUED TO
BE TESTED ON ALL FRONTS DURING
2021 AND DESPITE THE IMPACT OF
COVID IT HAS PROVED VERY ROBUST.

GROUP
REVENUE

GROUP
FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Revenue

2021

2020

£m

£m

68.7

61.4

Headline EBITDA

26.5

20.3

Depreciation and amortisation

(15.1)

(16.4)

Headline Operating Profit

11.4

3.9

Operating Profit

11.1

1.2

Interest and financing costs

(4.8)

(4.6)

Taxation

(2.7)

(3.0)

(Loss)/profit for the year

3.6

(6.4)

Ferry

Cruise

Cargo Property

£m

£m

£m

Total

£m

Marina/
Other
£m

£m

2021
Dues

54.7

1.2

0.4

-

0.8

57.1

Other

0.6

0.7

4.8

4.8

0.7

11.6

Total

55.3

1.9

5.2

4.8

1.5

68.7

Dues

49.2

0.9

0.4

-

0.8

51.3

Other

0.5

0.9

3.5

4.4

0.8

10.1

Total

49.7

1.8

3.9

4.4

1.6

61.4

2020

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

GROUP REVENUE
GREW BY £7.3 MILLION
DURING 2021
TO £68.7 MILLION,

A 12%
INCREASE
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Group revenue grew by £7.3 million during 2021 to
£68.7 million, a 12% increase. Freight volumes fell
by 5.2% to 2.1 million vehicles compared to a
market reduction of 5.6%. Freight volumes in the
year were negatively affected by the impact of
companies stockpiling in the final quarter of 2020 in
anticipation of the end of Brexit transition.
Covid continued to impact the 2021 tourist market,
with overseas travel largely prohibited through the
whole year. As a result, tourist cars and coaches fell
by 45% and 62% respectively. In total, 3.1 million
passengers passed through the port this year, a
reduction of 1.2 million compared to 2020. Despite
reduced traffic volumes, the number of vessels on
the route increased year on year, helped by the
arrival of a third operator, Irish Ferries, joining P&O
and DFDS on the short straits. As a result, ferry
entries increased by 14% to 15,538.
Tariffs were increased mid-way through 2020 and
the full year impact of this, alongside the increase in
ferry entries, ensured that core ferry revenue
increased by £5.5 million in the year, enabling the
port’s critical infrastructure assets to be maintained.
The cruise business, while better than 2020,
continued to be affected by Covid. The number of
cruise liners visiting the port increased by 36% in
the year, with revenue up by 10% to £1.9 million.
The cargo business enjoyed a significant increase in
the volume of steel and aggregates passing through
the port alongside similar levels of fresh produce as
2020. Overall cargo revenue was up 33% in the year
to £5.2 million, an increase of £1.3 million.
The property portfolio includes a hotel, retail outlet,
restaurants and leisure businesses all of which
continued to be impacted to some degree by the
pandemic. Revenue increased slightly to £4.8million
and costs were reduced.

HEADLINE PROFITABILITY
Group headline EBITDA was at £26.5 million, an
increase of £6.2 million compared to 2020. Savings
in administrative costs in the year were offset by
increases in operating costs as the business started
to prepare for the post-Covid period.

OPERATING PROFIT
Headline operating profit
Exceptional maintenance
Adjustment for defined benefit
pension cost

2021

2020

£m

£m

11.4

3.9

(3.0)

(3.1)

-

(0.2)

(0.1)

0.6

Gain/(loss) from change in fair
value of investment property

1.4

(1.3)

Other operating income

1.4

1.3

11.1

1.2

Exchange (losses)/gains

Operating Profit

Exceptional maintenance is the element of spend
incurred on large infrastructure projects which can be
expensed to the profit and loss account. The majority
of the £3.0 million spend in 2021 was on replacing
the roof on Waterloo Mansions. This project started
in 2020 but was not completed until 2021 due to
Covid restrictions and contractor availability.
The Board’s investment property portfolio was
revalued at the end of 2021 by the Directors at fair
value. In 2021 the Board received an interim update of
the valuation of these properties and concluded that
there had been an increase of £1.4 million in the year.
Other operating income was in line with the
previous year at £1.4 million following the release of
grant income in line with the costs incurred.

THE CARGO BUSINESS ENJOYED A SIGNIFICANT
INCREASE IN THE VOLUME OF STEEL AND
AGGREGATES PASSING THROUGH THE PORT...

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

CASH FLOW
Cash balances increased by £3.0 million in the year
to £57.3 million. This is after the payment of £25.1
million for fixed assets, including £9.1 million on the
Dover Western Docks Revival project. Grant receipts
of £4.6 million were received. Capital repayments of
£5.0 million and interest payments of £4.0 million
on borrowings were made to the EIB and Allianz
during the year.

PENSIONS
The Board operates a defined benefits pension
scheme which was closed to future accrual as at
31 May 2016. The Board continues to support the
scheme, providing funding for administration costs.

The trustees of the Dover Harbour Board Pension
and Life Assurance Scheme (1973) undertake
triennial valuations based on prudent assumptions
and agree any recovery plan with the Board. The
latest actuarial valuation was at 31 December 2020
which showed that the scheme had a deficit of
£12.8 million. The Board has agreed to pay a
maximum contribution of up to £1,000,000 per
annum until 2036, dependent on how the deficit at
each year end compares to a pre-determined value,
with the aim of making good the deficit over that
period. No deficit contribution was due in relation
to 2021.
The valuation of the liabilities at the reporting date
has been estimated based on the membership data

|
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used at the last actuarial valuation as at 31
December 2020 and updated for the passage of
time and changes in membership.

cash directly with well-regarded financial institutions
whose available rates continue to reflect the very
low bank base rates.

During 2021 liabilities have decreased by £18.6
million to £224.2 million largely due to the increase in
the applied discount rate from 1.20% to 1.80%
(based on corporate bond yields rated AA or
equivalent) reflecting higher long term interest rates.

The Board invests in a Cash Plus fund administered
by Royal London Asset Management. The AAA
rated fund has investments in cash, covered bonds,
conventional gilts, supranational bonds and
certificates of deposit.

These calculations will remain sensitive to changes in
the assumptions made and the Board continues to
monitor the position of the pension fund at regular
intervals, and is cognisant that alternative
assumptions, particularly in respect of lower
discount rates and increased life expectancy, could
significantly increase liabilities beyond the level
recognised in the financial statements.
The decrease in liabilities has been partially offset by
a £3.7 million decrease in assets during the year.
Overall, the net scheme liability of £13.8 million at
the end of 2020 has been replaced with an asset of
£1.2 million at the end of 2021.
Trustees of the Dover Harbour Board Pension and
Life Assurance Scheme (1973) have continued to
receive regular updates on matters influencing the
employer covenant.

INTEREST
Interest payable amounted to £4.0 million and reflects
the semi-annual interest due on the loan instruments
(see note 16) that were drawn in the year.
Interest received on cash balances was down to
£27,000 reflecting the lower returns throughout the
majority of the year. The Board continues to invest

OTHER FINANCE COSTS
Amortisation of set-up fees for bank facilities and
non-utilisation costs from the signing of revolving
credit facilities in May 2016 and term debt facilities
in December 2016 were £0.6 million in 2021, in line
with the previous year.

TAXATION
Following the group’s return to profitability in the
year, there is a current tax charge of £1.9m payable.
The increase in depreciation exceeds the capital
allowances available resulting in a higher tax charge.

BANK FACILITIES
The Board signed £90 million of revolving credit
facilities on 16 May 2016 with £45 million each from
Lloyds Bank plc and National Westminster Bank. This
facility was subsequently reduced to £70 million on
the signing of the term debt facilities. The facility is
available for five years with options to extend to
seven years. The first extension was exercised in
May 2017 and the second exercised in May 2018.
This facility is due for renewal in May 2023 and has
remained undrawn since May 2016.

THE PORT IS OPERATING COMFORTABLY
WITHIN ITS FINANCIAL COVENANTS.

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

On 14 December 2016 the Board signed term debt
facilities and incorporated the revolving credit facility
into a common terms structure totalling £200
million. The long-term facilities comprise a 20 year
loan from the European Investment Bank for £75
million and a 30 year loan note through Allianz
Global Investors for £55 million. The interest rates
for the long-term facilities have been fixed along
with drawdown dates.

The loans are secured against the assets of the Group
and the Group is subject to certain financial covenants
regarding leverage and debt service as well as certain
financial and operational conditions. The Port is
operating comfortably within its financial covenants.

As at 31 December 2021 the Board has drawn
£122.5 million (2020: £127.5 million) of its facilities.

Jonathan Pascoe

Further information on the facilities can be seen in
note 16 to the accounts.

Chief Financial Officer
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Our business model
OUR STATUTORY OBJECTIVE IS TO
ADMINISTER, MAINTAIN AND IMPROVE
THE DOVER HARBOUR.
We operate an efficient and dynamic business as a
trust port, generating strong cash flows to reinvest
into our people and infrastructure to take a long-term
view of strategic investments, so as to deliver a world
class port for all our stakeholders now and in the
future. As an island the UK’s maritime sector is critical
for trade and as the closest port to Europe we
contribute substantially to our community and the
economic interests of our nation.

INFRASTRUCTURE / ASSETS
Our port infrastructure underpins our business and
enables us to generate successful operations for our
ferry, cargo and cruise customers and other users of
the port. In line with its statutory objective the Port is
committed to maintaining and improving its
operational and heritage assets, whilst ensuring port
operations do not have an adverse impact on the
surrounding environment.
The Port has a large and aging asset base which
requires significant ongoing investment to ensure they
are safe, compliant with relevant legislation, resilient
and to renew assets as they reach the end of their life.
By developing new infrastructure at Dover Western
Docks we plan to grow our cargo customer base and add
further value to the business overall. The transfer of cargo
operations from the Eastern Docks has released land
which is now going to be used to facilitate the changes
to outbound border controls necessitated by the UK’s exit
from the European Union.

PEOPLE AND CULTURE
The Port is committed to looking after its people: their
welfare and career development. Our people are critical to
our business and it is important that we have people with the
right skills and behaviours. The Port aims to provide excellent
leadership and management, attract and retain talented
staff, develop skills and ultimately cultivate a progressive,
collaborative and healthy working environment.

SOURCES OF REVENUE
The Ports Good Governance Guide (2018) states that the
Port should operate on a commercial basis and that surpluses
are reinvested in the harbour for the benefit of stakeholders.
We set our dues and charges at commercial and competitive
rates and have worked with our ferry customers to develop a
ferry tariff framework so that the business model is properly
understood and we can work with our customers to add
value to the ferry business by identifying efficiencies.
Through the development of the Western Docks we aim to
attract new cargo and cruise customers and take advantage
of the regeneration opportunities provided.

STAKEHOLDERS AND CORPORATE, SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)
Our CSR strategy is integral to our business model. As a trust
port we have no shareholders and therefore pay no dividend.
There are a number of examples where we prioritise
non-financial objectives over surplus generation and use our
resources for the benefit of stakeholders. This includes our
commitment to and funding of the Port of Dover Community
Fund, expenditure on our heritage assets, apprenticeships
and bursaries, donation of staff time to community projects
and neighbourhood policing by the Port of Dover police. We
report on how we generate economic value for our
stakeholders in more detail in our separate CSR report.

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

THE PORT IS COMMITTED TO

LOOKING AFTER
ITS PEOPLE: THEIR WELFARE
AND CAREER DEVELOPMENT
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Review of Principal Risks
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
THE BOARD REVIEWS THE PRINCIPAL RISKS AT EACH MEETING WHICH ARE AS FOLLOWS:

RISK TO OPERATIONAL CONTINUITY

RISK TO REPUTATION AND INFLUENCE

Significant interruption to the flow of traffic (both
freight and tourist) through the Port has the
potential to cause significant issues on a wide scale
causing potential financial and reputational damage.
There are a number of possible causes including but
not limited to:

Our reputation and influence is affected by external
events outside our control; by internal failures and
our management of key stakeholders’ expectations at
a time of change and regeneration.

a dditional border controls post Brexit, which may
impact on transaction time through the Port and
require additional infrastructure to be built;
impacts from the COVID 19 virus;
industrial action;
severe weather;
s ecurity issues such as a terrorism incident,
suspect devices or Government imposing
increased security levels;
loss of ferry operator;
infrastructure or 3rd party systems failure; and
financial failure of a key customer or supplier.
To mitigate this risk to resilience, we have adopted
partnership working sharing information with other
members of the port community, have developed
contingency plans which we test and through
horizon scanning we prepare for known periods of
business stress.

To mitigate this, we have good control over our
messaging and relations with the media. We have
expanded our CSR activity.

REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE RISK
As a Trust Port/statutory corporation we are subject
to a multitude of regulatory and compliance based
requirements.
To mitigate the risk, we seek to ensure that our
corporate governance capability and capacity
supports our ways of working and are fundamental
to the delivery of our strategy and that skilled staff
are employed to oversee the compliance regimes in
their areas of responsibility.

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

SKILLED STAFF ARE EMPLOYED TO
OVERSEE THE COMPLAINCE REGIMES
IN THEIR AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY
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AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS

CULTURE, VALUES AND BEHAVIOURS

The Port has debt facilities in place with a number
of high-quality lenders. With the size of current
investments, we need to manage those borrowing
arrangements with care and avoid any significant
unplanned expenditure, whilst also carefully
monitoring developments within the market.

The culture, values and behaviours of our organisation
are critical to our business mission to apply our skills and
experience to develop a growing, vibrant and
commercially focussed business that contributes to our
community and to the economic interests of our nation.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic significantly
impacted revenues in 2020 and, although there was
significant recovery in revenues during 2021, the
Board continues to manage costs carefully, ensuring
that we have some flexibility in delaying certain
elements of capital project timeframes and spend to
maintain liquidity.
The Board also seeks to source additional funding
through grants toward infrastructure where such
grants are available.

The Port is a complex facility with high volumes of
people and vehicular traffic coming into close contact
and alongside a continual programme of major
construction projects. These interfaces pose significant
safety risks and we are committed to ensure these are
minimised through positive and proactive engagement
with staff, port community and customers.
To mitigate behavioural risks, we invest in our people
through training, coaching, mentoring and reward.
We seek to empower our staff and will identify and
use positive influencers in the organisation to ensure
the right behaviours.

WE SEEK TO EMPOWER OUR STAFF

S T R AT E G I C R E P O R T

FIT FOR PURPOSE ASSETS
The Port has a wide variety of assets across an
extensive estate and these need to be maintained and
monitored to ensure no safety implications or failures
that may give rise to an interruption of the business
operations of the Port. Assets are identified within
five main categories: berths, cranes, passenger access,
utilities and underground services and structures.
To mitigate asset risks we have a long term asset plan
and robust inspection and maintenance regime and a
plan to renew assets as they reach end of life. We also
have a proactive approach to interruptions to our
services and monitor outages of key assets and hold
levels of spare parts which minimise the time taken to
get assets working again.

PROGRAMME RISK FOR MAJOR
INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS
As an organisation we face a number of risks
attached to the future development and future
proofing of the port estate and business operations
pipeline. Programme risks are those relating to
major infrastructure programmes, developments
and arguably business acquisitions and other modes
of expansion. The most significant risk at present is
the Dover Western Docks Revival program. 2021
saw continued disruption and delay to the current
phase of the project through the COVID 19
pandemic and has delayed the opening of the new
marina. Further phases are ongoing and planned
but of a much smaller scale with much reduced
levels of risk to those seen in recent years.
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OTHER FINANCIAL RISKS
The Board’s financial instruments comprise
borrowings, cash and liquid resources, and various
items such as trade debtors and trade creditors that
arise directly from its operations.
In order to augment returns from current liquid
resources and diversify risk the Board appointed Royal
London Asset Management to invest a significant
proportion of surplus funds in an AAA rated Cash
Plus Fund which contains a portfolio of securities and
money market instruments. The risk profile includes
certificates of deposit with ‘A rated’ approved Banks
and Building Societies, short dated (under 5 years) UK
Government Bonds (including index linked) and
Supranational (AAA rated) Bonds, Floating Rate
Notes and Covered Bonds. The Board does not invest
its temporary cash surpluses in UK or overseas
equities, foreign currencies or the futures market nor
in high return / high risk deposits.

30 year amortising loan note of £55 million. As at
the financial year end £122.5 million was drawn
from these facilities.
The terms of these facilities require that a minimum
of 65% of drawn debt is fixed interest or hedged.
The Board has chosen to take the term loan and
loan note as fixed interest facilities. The revolving
credit facility is a floating rate facility.

LIQUIDITY RISK
The Board has secured the facilities noted above.
The Board continues to monitor the projected
cashflows and the headroom on the facilities
available to ensure it has sufficient funds to finance
its strategic plan.

CURRENCY RISK

The Board allows, subject to certain limits, surplus
funds to be placed with UK ‘A’ rated banks where
higher returns are available with a similar level of
risk. Risks arising from the Board’s financial
instruments are interest rate risks, currency risk and
credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks as summarised below:

The Board’s policy to manage this risk is to enter
into forward exchange contracts. This should only
be where payment / receipt dates are known with a
degree of certainty and where such currency flows
cannot be naturally hedged within the business.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Board takes this risk very seriously and
continues to work with the Department for
Transport following the Network and Information
Systems audit undertaken by the Information
Commissioner’s Office in 2020. The business also
undertakes regular tests to guard against network
penetration, phishing and other attacks.

The Board finances its operations and infrastructure
investments through a mixture of retained profits,
short, medium and long term debt and finance
leasing. The Board finances certain items of plant and
equipment by means of finance and operating leases.
The Board has borrowing facilities of £200 million
comprising a revolving credit facility of £70 million, a
20 year amortising term loan of £75 million and a

CYBER RISK

Jonathan Pascoe

Chief Financial Officer

THE BUSINESS ALSO UNDERTAKES REGULAR TESTS TO GUARD
AGAINST NETWORK PENETRATION, PHISHING AND OTHER ATTACKS.
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Board Governance Report
CHAIRMAN’S INTRODUCTION
ON BEHALF OF MY FELLOW DIRECTORS I AM PLEASED TO INTRODUCE
OUR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT WHICH SETS OUT HOW WE
DISCHARGE OUR GOVERNANCE DUTIES. DURING THE YEAR I HAVE
CONTINUED TO ENSURE THAT OUR GOVERNANCE PROCESSES REMAIN
ROBUST AND THAT WE ACHIEVE A HIGH STANDARD OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE. AS A TRUST PORT WE HAVE NO SHAREHOLDERS BUT
HAVE A WIDE RANGE OF STAKEHOLDERS, WITH VARYING INTERESTS,
TO WHOM WE ARE ACCOUNTABLE.

In my role as Chairman I aim to ensure that I lead the Board effectively and
maintain the right Board dynamic encouraging effective contributions and
constructive challenge from individual directors.
Board meetings continued to be held as a mixture of video conferences
and physical gatherings in 2021, as dictated by the restrictions in place at
the time to manage the risks posed by COVID-19 and as permitted by the
Dover Harbour (Constitution) Revision Order 2016. Such hybrid working
brought efficiencies as well as safeguarding the health of board members
and the Port’s operational personnel.
The Board operated with two unplanned vacancies for the second half of
2021, following the expiry of Perry Glading’s appointment by the Secretary
of State and the resignation of Shaun Pottage. I am grateful for their
service to the Board, and also to my fellow directors who carried the
additional responsibility of serving on a short-handed Board. I was pleased
to welcome Jonathan Pascoe, the Port’s Chief Financial Officer, to the
Board in January 2022 as the second executive director.
Our non-executive directors bring a broad range of experience and skills to
the Board, the details of which are summarised on pages 42 to 43.

R E P O R T O F T H E B OA R D

SUCH HYBRID WORKING BROUGHT EFFICIENCIES AS WELL AS
SAFEGUARDING THE HEALTH OF BOARD MEMBERS AND THE
PORT’S OPERATIONAL PERSONNEL.
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LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS
This section looks at the role of our Board members,
their performance and oversight.
The Board is responsible for the effective strategic
direction and control of the business and in order to
discharge that responsibility properly, it strives to
achieve best practice in corporate governance within
the boundaries of an entity which is not listed. To
ensure that the business is run in a responsible
manner it is committed to the principles of
openness, transparency and accountability and to
ensure that the business is run in a responsible
manner. The Board continues to follow the “Ports
Good Governance Guidance”, issued by the
Department for Transport in March 2018, and also
pays due regard to the corporate governance
principles set out in the Institute of Directors’
“Corporate Governance Guidance and Principles for
Unlisted Companies in the UK”.
The legal duties, powers and obligations of the
Board are derived from national legislation, its own
acts of Parliament and a variety of statutory
instruments relating to the operation of ports.
The Board does not have shareholders. Nevertheless,
it is accountable to its stakeholders for the
performance of its duties and it encourages regular
dialogue with its different groups of them in the
furtherance of its objectives. In addition to an annual
consultative meeting at which it communicates its
key business results to stakeholders, including
customers, local government, community groups,
the general public and staff, it is responsive to the
views of its wider stakeholders and has established
two statutory advisory bodies which it uses as
forums to consult with stakeholder groups. The
Dover Harbour (Constitution) Order 2016 provided a
statutory framework for:

 Port Users’ Group, which comprises a
A
representative cross section of the users of the Port;
and
 Port and Community Forum which provides a
A
focal point through which there can be
engagement and debate between the Port and the
local community regarding matters of interest
relating to the operation and development of the
Port. It enables the Port management to update
interested parties on options for port development,
supporting local regeneration, and what actions
the Port is taking to increase community
engagement and to further understand the needs
of its stakeholders.
Both advisory bodies have chairmen who are
independent of the Port and are consulted on
matters which in the Board’s reasonable opinion
could substantially affect the management,
improvement, conservation, protection or regulation
of the harbour or navigation within it. Their usual
annual cycle of meetings was again disrupted in
2021, replaced with a combination of online and
small in-person meetings as circumstances allowed.
There is also a Ferry Port User Group, which comprises
the Port and its ferry operators. This met twice, chaired
unusually by the Port itself, to welcome Irish Ferries to
Dover, alongside DFDS and P&O Ferries.

THE ROLE AND STRUCTURE
OF THE BOARD
The Board’s constitution provides for a non-executive
Chairman, six non-executive and two executive
members. The non-executive appointments are
normally fixed for a maximum period of three years.
The Chairman is appointed by the Secretary of State
for Transport. Four non-executive directors are

THE BOARD MEETS REGULARLY... AND WITH A STRONG NON-EXECUTIVE
ELEMENT BRINGS AN INDEPENDENT JUDGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT
ON FINANCIAL, STRATEGIC AND ORGANISATIONAL ISSUES.

R E P O R T O F T H E B OA R D

appointed to provide specialist knowledge or
experience to contribute to the efficient, effective
and economic discharge by the Board of its functions,
two of whom are appointed by the Secretary of State
and two by the Board. A further two non-executive
directors are appointed to bring special knowledge of
the position of the harbour within the local
community and local economy. The Board also
appoints two executive members including the Chief
Executive. All appointments are made after a rigorous
competitive selection process and all new board
members participate in a comprehensive induction.
The Board meets regularly (at least six times every year,
and ten times during 2021) and with a strong
non-executive element brings an independent
judgement and oversight on financial, strategic and
organisational issues. No individual or group of
individuals dominate the Board’s decision-making.
Additional Board meetings are arranged for
exceptional items and to debate the strategic future of
the Port. Reporting to the Board is the Chief Executive
who together with his senior colleagues has
responsibility for day-to-day management.
Biographical details can be found on pages 42 to 43.
The Board has a schedule of matters specifically
reserved to it for decision and has also defined those

delegated to Board committees and management
and this schedule is reviewed annually. The
Chairman has ensured that the Board members are
provided with appropriate and timely information
and that their enquiries have been properly met.
The non-executive members bring external expertise
in areas of importance to the Board such as shipping
and port operations, general and corporate finance,
and engineering, as well as professional governance.
The Board is satisfied that all members devote
sufficient time and attention as is necessary to
perform their duties and that no one individual has
unfettered powers of decision.
All Board members have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary of the Board and
may take independent professional advice at the
Board’s expense.
There are three standing committees of the Board;
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee. All the committees
have written terms of reference, and the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee have a
standing membership; members are appointed to
the Nomination Committee as and when it is
convened.
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Report of the Audit
Committee
I AM PLEASED TO SET OUT AN
ACCOUNT OF THE COMMITTEE’S
WORK DURING 2021.
Our Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive board members, has a quorum of two
and the Board has determined that the Chairman of
Audit should have recent and relevant financial
experience. The Chief Executive and the Chief
Financial Officer and Infrastructure Director also
normally attend the meetings. Whilst not a member
of the Audit Committee the Chairman of the Board
attends meetings from time to time.
The terms of reference for the Committee were
reviewed by the Board in March. The Committee is
required to meet at least three times a year, and to
meet once a year with the internal and external
auditors without the executive being present. One of
the duties of the Committee is to review the annual
report and financial statements with a particular role
to ensure that the picture of the business presented is
fair, balanced and understandable.
It also discusses with the external auditor the results
of the audit and any other matters raised by the
auditor and reviews the external auditor’s
management letter and management’s response.
The Committee keeps under review the effectiveness
of the Board’s internal controls and risk management
systems, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management, providing
assurance to the Board that the process of risk
management operates effectively. It ensures that the
principal risks facing the Board are appropriately
assessed and provides advice on the management
and mitigation of such risks. The Committee is

responsible for risk processes, with the Board
retaining responsibility for risk appetite.
The internal audit function is outsourced and is
undertaken by Grant Thornton UK LLP with the Internal
Auditor attending all meetings of the Committee.

WORK CARRIED OUT BY THE
COMMITTEE DURING 2021
Like the main Board, the Committee adopted a
hybrid working model during 2021, with both online
and in-person meetings, in accordance with
restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic.
With many non-operational staff continuing to work
at home, practical considerations continued to
constrain the internal audit programme. The
Committee reaffirmed the desirability of reestablishing a strong internal audit regime and, in the
interim, reviewed the conclusions of the audit
commissioned in 2020 into the risks associated with
remote working. It also reviewed a specialist audit,
undertaken by the Royal Society for the Prevention of
Accidents, of the Port’s safety management
procedures.
In addition to its annual review of the risk register in
March, the Committee in July examined the specific
material issues which needed to be resolved in the
next 12 to 18 months for which no clear or funded
mitigation had been agreed and reported its
conclusions to the Board. It also revisited the Port’s
whistle-blowing procedure.
In November, it reviewed BDO’s plan for the 2021
audit, and satisfied itself that the external auditors
had an appropriate level of independence.

Alisdair Cameron

Chairman of the Audit Committee

R E P O R T O F T H E B OA R D

ONE OF THE DUTIES OF THE COMMITTEE IS TO REVIEW THE ANNUAL
REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITH A PARTICULAR ROLE TO
ENSURE THAT THE PICTURE OF THE BUSINESS PRESENTED IS
FAIR, BALANCED AND UNDERSTANDABLE.
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Report of the
Remuneration Committee
I AM PLEASED TO PRESENT A REPORT OF THE REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE’S ACTIVITIES IN 2021, WHEN IT MET FOUR TIMES, ONCE
MORE THAN REQUIRED BY ITS TERMS OF REFERENCE, AS REVIEWED
AND CONFIRMED IN MARCH.

The Committee makes recommendations to the
Board about its overall policy of employee
remuneration and redundancy and the framework
of the Chief Executive and Directors’ remuneration
and its cost, and about specific remuneration
packages and conditions of employment, (including
pension benefits and other related contract terms
and non contractual bonus schemes) for the Chief
Executive and Directors. On behalf of the Board, it
determines the Chief Executive’s bonus scheme,
objectives and payment and reviews actual
performance every year against those objectives.
In determining remuneration packages, the
Committee takes into account all factors which it
deems necessary, with the objective of ensuring that
members of the executive management of the
organisation are provided with appropriate
incentives to encourage enhanced performance and
are, in a fair and responsible manner, rewarded for
their individual contributions to corporate success.
The Committee has formulated a pay structure that
will actively incentivise the directors to deliver the
ongoing business performance whilst offering a real
incentive for making a longer term commitment in
order to ensure the successful delivery of major
infrastructure and commercial projects.
The Committee also agrees the policy for the
remuneration of non-executive members including
fees and reimbursement of expenses. Decision-

making is structured so that, while the Committee
as a whole debates the structure and policy of
remuneration matters, no member of the
Committee is in a position to propose his or her
remuneration.
The organisation aims to reward all staff in a way
which is designed to attract and retain high quality
people and motivate them to deliver the business
strategy, promoting the interests of and delivering
for stakeholders. The Business operates an in-year
bonus scheme which pays up to between 10% and
30% of salary. It is awarded against a combination
of financial performance (against a previously
agreed budget) and personal objectives.
During the year under review, the Committee made
recommendations for bonus awards under the first
year of the new executive incentive scheme for the
period 2020-2024, and also recommended mid-year
salary increases for certain members of the executive
team as part of a reorganisation of responsibilities.
Towards the end of the year, the Committee
approved the objectives of the Chief Executive for
2022, noted those of the other members of a
reconstituted executive team, and also
recommended a salary increase for the Chief
Executive at the same percentage as budgeted for
all employees. It also commenced a review of pay
parity and diversity across the organisation.

THE ORGANISATION AIMS TO REWARD ALL STAFF
IN A WAY WHICH IS DESIGNED TO ATTRACT AND
RETAIN HIGH QUALITY PEOPLE AND MOTIVATE THEM...
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Salary &
Fees

Annual
Bonus

LTIP

Pension

Other
Benefits

Total +

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

D Bannister

300

72

48

60

2

482

S Pottage*+

154

-

-

31

1

186

2021

R Everitt

50

-

-

-

-

50

A Cameron

28

-

-

-

-

28

P Glading**

15

-

-

-

-

15

J Simpson

26

-

-

-

-

26

N Wiggins

26

-

-

-

-

26

S Gurney

26

-

-

-

-

26

D Everitt

26

-

-

-

-

26

651

72

48

91

3

865

Salary &
Fees

Annual
Bonus

LTIP

Pension

Other
Benefits

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

D Bannister

300

36

24

60

2

422

S Pottage

220

18

18

44

2

302

R Everitt

50

-

-

-

-

50

F Martin

13

-

-

-

-

13

S Gurney

26

-

-

-

-

26

N Wiggins

26

-

-

-

-

26

A Cameron

28

-

-

-

-

28

P Glading

26

-

-

-

-

26

J Simpson

26

-

-

-

-

26

715

54

42

104

4

919

Total

2020

Total

+ Total does not include £373,500 for payment in lieu of notice
* S Pottage left the Board on 26 August 2021
** P Glading retired from the Board on 30 June 2021

As at 31 December 2021 the following
amounts had been accrued in the long
term incentive plan:

D Bannister

S Pottage

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

80

18

98

(22)

(18)

(40)

48

-

48

106

-

106

As at 1 January 2021
Paid in 2021
Accrued in 2021
As at 31 December 2021

The total bonus and LTIP element of remuneration shown in
the table above represents the amounts accrued in respect
of the financial year which are payable in subsequent years.
The defined benefit pension scheme was closed to
future accrual in 2016 and the amounts shown as
pension above include both pension contributions and
taxable consideration in lieu of pension contributions.

Jane Simpson

Chairman of Remuneration Committee
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Report of the
Nomination Committee
THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE COMPRISES SUCH OF THE NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS AS MAY BE NOMINATED BY THE BOARD FROM TIME TO TIME.
The Nomination Committee comprises such of the
non-executive directors as may be nominated by
the Board from time to time. It is chaired by the
Chairman of the Board, or the Deputy Chairman
where an appointment relates to the Chairman. Its
membership is flexible depending on the expiry of
terms of appointment of individual directors. It
usually meets once a year but will meet as required
during years when new appointments or
reappointments are required. It makes
recommendations to the Board regarding the
appointment of directors where the Board is the
appointing body and provides support and advice
to the Board Chairman in working with the
Department for Transport for appointments by the
Secretary of State.
The Committee also reviews the Board’s
composition (its mix of skills, experiences and
characteristics) and gives full consideration to
succession planning for the directors appointed by
the Board, including the executive directors and
key senior management post-holders, taking into
account the challenges and opportunities facing
the port, and what skills and expertise are
therefore needed in the future. For appointments
by the Secretary of State the Nomination
Committee collaborates with the DfT to determine
the relevant skills requirements of candidates and
operates the recruitment process for those
appointments.
The Committee met three times during 2021. It
was initially convened to prepare a specification for
two new directors who are due to be appointed in

2022 on the basis of their special knowledge or
experience of the position of the harbour within
the local community and local economy (the
“community directors”), and made a
recommendation to the Board accordingly. The
Committee also decided that the recruitment
should be entrusted to a search agency with a
clear regional focus.
The Committee also made initial preparations for
the selection, also due in 2022, of a new chairman
and two new directors, one of whom is to be
appointed by the Board and the other by the
Secretary of State. Specifications were drafted for
each role and the Committee decided that, in the
interests of efficiency and avoiding confusion, all
three roles should be advertised simultaneously in
a co-ordinated recruitment process managed by a
single professional search agency.
In order to maintain a fit-for-purpose Board, the
Board’s policy is to recruit the best candidate for
the role and external search consultants are usually
appointed to ensure a wide and diverse range of
suitable candidates is considered. Prior to
recommending the reappointment of any nonexecutive director, a full appraisal of the
individual’s performance is carried out.
The Committee’s Terms of Reference were
reviewed and updated in March.

Richard Everitt

Chairman of Nomination Committee

R E P O R T O F T H E B OA R D

|

41

IN ORDER TO MAINTAIN A FIT-FOR-PURPOSE
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Members of the Board
BOARD MEMBERS AS AT 27 APRIL 2022

1

1

2

3

4

6

7

8

9

5

RICHARD EVERITT CBE, CHAIRMAN
Richard qualified as a solicitor, is currently Chairman of the Thames Skills Academy Ltd and is also Chairman of the Employers’
Association involved in negotiations with the Marine Pilots National Pension Fund. Richard is the former Chief Executive of the Port
of London Authority and of National Air Traffic Services Ltd. He was previously a Commissioner of Belfast Harbour, Chairman of Air
Partner plc, and a Director of BAA plc with responsibility for strategy and regulatory matters following its privatisation.
Appointed by Secretary of State for Transport on 1 July 2016, and re-appointed on 1 July 2019. Current term of appointment
ends 30 June 2022. (Chairs the Nomination Committee).

2

DOUG BANNISTER, CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Doug has over 30 years’ experience in international business, and has held roles with the Ports of Jersey and leading sea
transportation companies including P&O Nedlloyd and Maersk Line UK & Ireland. He has deep experience in leading asset
intense operational businesses, having operated in shipping, maritime and aviation sectors.
Appointed by Dover Harbour Board. Date of appointment 1 January 2019.

3

NEIL WIGGINS, DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
Neil has over 30 years international experience in the maritime sector, from deck officer to director. He is currently Managing
Director of IVOPS Ltd an independent maritime and port operations consultancy. Neil is a member of the East Kent Hospitals
University NHS Foundation Trust. He has previously held the role of Chairman of the National Maritime Group Thames and
Channel Region and is an Academic Course Director for Lloyds Maritime Academy’s diploma course in port management. He
is appointed as a director who has special knowledge of the position of the harbour within the local community.
Appointed by Dover Harbour Board on 1 May 2016 and re-appointed on 1 May 2019. Appointed Deputy Chairman and
Senior Independent Director on 29 July 2021. Current term of appointment expires on 30 April 2022.
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SAMANTHA GURNEY, BOARD MEMBER
Samantha is a local business woman operating Taylor Gurney – an independent estate agency covering East Kent. She was a
serving police officer with Kent Police for 25 years. She is appointed as a director who has special knowledge of the position of
the harbour within the local community. She also performs a voluntary role as a lay member of the interviewing sub-committee
for appointment of Justices of the Peace.
Appointed by Dover Harbour Board on 1 May 2016 and re-appointed on 1 May 2019. Current term of appointment expires
on 30 April 2022.

5

ALISDAIR CAMERON, BOARD MEMBER
Alisdair is currently Chief Financial Officer and a member of the Board of Directors of Post Office Limited. He was a Non-Executive
Director of Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. He is a Chartered Accountant and previously worked in a variety of
roles for Centrica plc prior to which he was a partner with Arthur Anderson and Deloitte & Touche.
Appointed by Dover Harbour Board on 1 February 2017 and re-appointed with effect from 1 January 2020. Current term
of appointment expires on 31 December 2022. (Chairs the Audit Committee).

6

JANE SIMPSON, BOARD MEMBER
Jane has a background in infrastructure and engineering and extensive experience in large capital programme delivery, safety and
asset management. She was the Northern Operations Director for Royal Mail and previously Capital Delivery Director for Severn
Trent, Chief Engineer and interim Group Safety, Technical and Engineering Director for Network Rail. She has featured in the
Telegraph’s top 50 women in engineering and the Financial Times’ 100 women to watch.
Appointed by Dover Harbour Board on 1 October 2019. Current term of appointment expires on 30 September 2022. (Chairs
the Remuneration Committee).

7

DENISE EVERITT, BOARD MEMBER
Denise is a Chartered Accountant and spent several years in the accountancy profession prior to moving into Higher
Education, initially as Financial Controller at Cranfield University and then at the University of Kent in a variety of roles,
most latterly as Chief Operating Officer responsible for Estates, Information Services and Commercial matters. She retired
from the University in 2020. She has held roles as a school governor in East Kent and was previously a Board member of
Canterbury for Business.
Appointed by the Secretary of State for Transport on 1 January 2021. Current term of appointment expires on 31 December 2023..

8

JONATHAN PASCOE, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Jonathan is a Chartered Accountant with extensive ferry and port experience, having spent more than twenty years with the
Wightlink group as Finance Director and Chief Financial Officer. He joined the organisation as Chief Financial Officer in August
2021.
Appointed by Dover Harbour Board. Date of appointment 27 January 2022.

9

TIM REARDON, COMPANY SECRETARY
As Secretary to the Board, Tim attends all Board meetings. He joined the organisation in 2018 as Head of EU Exit and was
appointed to the role of Company Secretary in May 2019. He is a member of ICSA: The Governance Institute.

RETIREMENTS DURING 2021
Perry Glading, who had served on the board since July 2018 and as Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent Director since
June 2020, ceased to be a member of the board in June when his appointment by the Secretary of State came to an end.
Shaun Pottage resigned in August, having served on the board as the second executive director since May 2014.
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Board Performance
PERFORMANCE EVALUATION
The table below details the number of formal Board and Committee Meetings
attended by each Board member. During the year ended 31 December 2021
there were ten scheduled Board meetings, three Audit Committee meetings, four
Remuneration Committee meetings and three Nomination Committee meeting.

Board
Meetings

Audit
Committee
Meetings

Remuneration
Committee
Meetings

Nomination
Committee
Meetings

10

3

4

3

R Everitt

10/10

3/3

4/4

3/3

S Gurney

9/10

3/3

-

N Wiggins

10/10

-

4/4

-

A Cameron

10/10

3/3

-

-

NUMBER OF
MEETINGS
Member

-

P Glading*

5/5

-

3/3

2/2

J Simpson

9/10

-

4/4

-

D Everitt

10/10

3/3

-

3/3

D Bannister

10/10

3/3

3/4

3/3

S Pottage*

5/6

2/2

-

2/2

* Retired / resigned during the year

REMUNERATION
The fees and emoluments for the executive directors and non-executive members
are set out on page 39.

R E P O R T O F T H E B OA R D
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Directors’ Report
FINANCING
The Board maintains banking facilities sufficient to
meet its strategic objectives and deliver for the Port’s
customers and the Community of Dover. Our profits
are reinvested in the business.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The Board has maintained its commitment to explore
new and more suitable ways to handle large numbers
of passengers and vehicles with greater efficiency
within the physical constraints of the port.

DONATIONS
No donations were made for political parties.

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS
The organisation strives to recruit and retain the
right people, facilitating ambitious training
programmes, valuing continuous learning and
development opportunities by providing staff with
room and opportunities to grow both personally
and professionally. It is also committed to
maintaining and improving employee involvement in
the organisation’s performance and in providing
them with timely and appropriate information.
The aims of the Board and its views on future
developments are contained in its corporate objectives
statements. The Board’s ability to sustain a competitive
edge over the short and long term will depend in large
part on the continuous development of customer
service by all employees.

The port maintains a variety of communication
channels with its workforce. Frequent emails across
the organisation keep all employees up-to-date on a
broad array of developments, and the programme of
online “Teams Live Events” for keeping in touch,
especially with those working from home, has
continued. “Meet the Exec”, a new series of one-toone interviews with members of the reconstituted
Exec team, streamed across the organisation, was
launched towards the end of the year.

DISABLED EMPLOYEES
Applications for employment from disabled persons
are fully considered bearing in mind the respective
capabilities of the applicant concerned. The Board
provides an occupational health service which
assists with monitoring the health of employees and
ensuring that employees who experience disability
or long-term illness receive the appropriate support
to enable them to stay in or return to work. In the
event of members of staff becoming disabled, every
effort is made to ensure that reasonable
adjustments are made, guidance and support given
and where appropriate re-training is arranged. It is
the Board’s policy that training, career development
and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as
possible, be identical to those of other employees.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
In pursuance of health, safety and environment
policies, the Board employs experienced staff to
implement and maintain high standards in the
interests of port users.

R E P O R T O F T H E B OA R D

IT IS THE BOARD’S POLICY THAT TRAINING, CAREER DEVELOPMENT
AND PROMOTION OF DISABLED PERSONS SHOULD, AS FAR AS
POSSIBLE, BE IDENTICAL TO THOSE OF OTHER EMPLOYEES.
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THE ENVIRONMENT
The Port of Dover is committed to ensuring the best
practicable protection of the environment under its
jurisdiction commensurate with its mission and the
aim of sustainable development.
The Board fully endorses the principles contained in
the European Sea Ports Organisation’s Green Guide
and is pledged to work towards a cleaner
environment through the implementation of effective
management strategies. The Board actively works
with the British Ports Association and the Ecoports’
network. There is an Integrated Management System
in place following the guidance of Ecoports and ISO
14001:2015, driving continual improvement in our
environmental performance.
The most significant environmental impacts of the
Port of Dover remain as carbon emissions, waste,
traffic congestion and air pollution. The port
continues to demonstrate responsibility to the
environment, and these are evidenced by the
following actions and achievements in 2021:
 aintaining 100% landfill avoidance for general
M
waste stream, which is sorted to produce an
average 96% recycled.
 ontinued to undertake the port’s rigorous
C
environmental monitoring programme covering a
wide range of marine and terrestrial ecosystems as
well as monitoring noise, air and water quality.

The Group is required to report its annual greenhouse
gas emissions pursuant to the Companies Act 2006
(Strategic Report and Directors Report) Regulations 2018
(“Regulations”). The Companies (Directors’ Report) and
Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report)
Regulations 2018 (the 2018 Regulations) implement the
government’s policy on Streamlined Energy and Carbon
Reporting (SECR). The company is meeting these
requirements by reporting their UK energy use,
associated greenhouse gas emissions, an intensity ratio,
methodology and energy efficiency actions taken.
This data has been collated during the financial reporting
year to 31 December 2021 using source documentation
where possible. The energy consumption data from
invoices includes all electricity, gas, gas oil, diesel/petrol
used for port owned transport and LPG. Solar energy
use is the Port’s measured usage from onsite solar
production; this is only included in the energy use
section as there are no associated carbon emissions for
this energy source. Personal mileage (total mileage
reimbursed from staff claims) is calculated based on an
average sized petrol car using HM Revenue and
Custom’s (HMRC) Advisory Fuel Rates. Fugitive emissions
have not been included in the Energy use section as they
are not a direct energy use and are included in the
Carbon figures. The energy consumption data has been
converted to kWh and the carbon emissions calculated
by using the GHG Conversion factors published by
Department of Business Energy and Industrial Strategy
(BEIS) for the relevant years.

Energy use:

F urther progressed the port’s target to reduce carbon
emissions with a 21% reduction in 2021.

ANNUAL GROSS
CONSUMPTION (kWh)

 aintaining certification to ISO 14001:2015
M
Environmental Management System requirements.

Electricity

P articipation in the Marine Conservation Society’s
National Beach Clean, with White Cliffs Countryside
Project on Shakespeare Beach.
 chieving an ‘Excellent’ standard in bathing water
A
quality for Dover Beach.
L ead Partner in the CMDC funded Dover Clean Ferry
Power Project, which is investigating future shore power
facilities for ferries, this project will conclude in 2022.

Personal mileage claims

2021

2020

12,684,879

12,814,049

834,273

533,594

Gas

1,928,769

1,497,496

Gas oil

5,054,996

4,911,370

Diesel

198,558

249,425

Petrol

49,531

692,440

181,744

151,906

22,186

23,522

20,954,936

20,202,237

Solar

LPG

Total

R E P O R T O F T H E B OA R D

THE PORT OF DOVER IS COMMITTED TO ENSURING THE
BEST PRACTICABLE PROTECTION OF THE ENVIRONMENT
UNDER ITS JURISDICTION COMMENSURATE WITH ITS
MISSION AND THE AIM OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT.
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The operational scopes used for the greenhouse gas emissions are as follows;
Scope 1 – Gas, gas oil, fuel for port owned transport and fugitive emissions
Scope 2 – Purchased electricity
Scope 3 – Personal mileage claims
The intensity ratio has been calculated on full time equivalents (FTE) at 31 December of respective years and does not
include seasonal staff.

Carbon:
LOCATION BASED APPROACH
ANNUAL GROSS GLOBAL
EMISSIONS

2021

Scope 1
Scope 2
Scope 3
Total metric tonnes
CO2e (tCO2e)
Intensity ratio
(tCO2e per FTE)

2020

MARKET BASED APPROACH
ANNUAL GROSS GLOBAL
EMISSIONS

2021

2020

2,173

2,745

Scope 1

2,173

2,745

2,932

3,244

Scope 2

0

0

6.5

7

Scope 3

6.5

7

5,111.5

5,996

2,179.5

2,752

15

19

6

9

All electricity purchased is from renewable sources from
suppliers with Renewable Energy Guarantees of Origin
(REGO) certificates. To fully recognise this REGO certified
electricity source the emissions have additionally been
calculated below using a market-based approach, as
recommended in HM Government’s (DEFRA and BEIS)
Environmental Reporting Guidelines, March 2019.

Total metric tonnes
CO2e (tCO2e)
Intensity ratio
(tCO2e per FTE)

The slight increase in energy use in 2021 compared to
2020 was expected as the Coronavirus pandemic led to
reduced traffic numbers as well as reduced staff on site;
that resulted in a decrease in the ports energy use in
2020. As traffic and staff on the port have begun to
increase again throughout 2021, we have seen a slight
increase in energy use.

R E P O R T O F T H E B OA R D

Energy efficiency action taken:
In 2021 the two solar arrays, 0.26MW on the
Passenger Handling Building and 1.3MW on the Cargo
Terminal, were both fully operational for their first full
year. During 2021 the port consumed 834,273 kWh
from these two arrays. The installation of these solar
arrays is not only supplying the port with increased
electrical capacity and resilience, it is also providing a
carbon emission free energy solution. Space
constraints at the port limits the available options for
increasing the number of solar arrays, however the
port continues to investigate the options to increase
solar production during any project planning stages.
The Port of Dover is currently taking part in a Clean
Maritime Demonstration Competition funded project
titled the ‘Dover Clean Ferry Power (DCFP): TechnoEconomic Feasibility Analysis of Electric Power Solutions
for Port of Dover Ferries’. The project consortium is
made up of academics and industry professionals
including the Port of Dover, P&O Ferries, University of
Kent, Warwick Manufacturing Group and Schneider
Electric. The project commenced in September 2021
and ran until March 2022, the aim of this project is to
calculate the energy required to provide a cold ironing
electrical supply to 2 new hybrid P&O ferries due in
2023. The project will also investigate the viable
solutions the Port will have to undertake to provide this
increased demand. Project outputs will be produced
and communicated once the project is complete, with
plans developed to address the outcomes.

The Port has also continued its LED replacement
across the port’s estate. There have been several
LED projects in 2021, these include LED lighting
replacements in the 9 Berth Passenger Access. This
resulted in energy savings of approximately 12,614
kWh annually. A project at the Cruise Terminal
replaced 16 400W sodium fittings, with 80W LED
marine grade fittings. An overhead roadway lighting
upgrade project consisted of installing 80 x 70w LED
fittings to replace the 124 x 150w sodium, saving
57,642 kWh annually.
Throughout 2021, the Port has been undertaking
both environmental and technical feasibility studies to
determine whether the Port could move to
Hydrotreated vegetable oil (HVO) in place of its red
diesel usage in all gas oil heating systems, generators,
plant/machinery (including harbour cranes) and in any
diesel vehicles. This is expected to result in around a
98% carbon emissions savings compared to the
diesel currently used in this equipment. The
procurement of HVO is planned to begin in 2022.
Unfortunately, the continued coronavirus pandemic
has led to some energy efficiency projects in 2021
being delayed. This was due to a reduction in staff
that could safely remain on site to undertake such
projects, as well as economic uncertainty caused by
reduced traffic numbers.

IN 2021 THE TWO SOLAR ARRAYS, 0.26MW ON THE PASSENGER
HANDLING BUILDING AND 1.3MW ON THE CARGO TERMINAL, WERE
BOTH FULLY OPERATIONAL FOR THEIR FIRST FULL YEAR.
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Statement of
Responsibilities
of the Board
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Board members are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report and Accounts in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Board members to
prepare financial statements for each financial year.
Under that law the Board members have elected to
prepare the group and parent company financial
statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Standards and applicable law).
Under company law the Board members must not
approve the financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the group and parent company
and of the profit or loss of the group for that period.
In preparing these financial statements, Board
members are required to:

s elect suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;
 ake judgements and accounting estimates that
m
are reasonable and prudent;
s tate whether applicable UK Accounting Standards
have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements; and
 repare the financial statements on the going
p
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Board will continue in business.

The Board members are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are sufficient to
show and explain Dover Harbour Board’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of Dover Harbour
Board and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with section 42 of the Harbours
Act 1964 (as amended) which requires that the
financial statements be properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
company and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
The Board members are also responsible for
confirming to the best of their knowledge that the
Strategic Report includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and
position of the organisation, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that it faces.
The financial statements are published on the
company’s website in accordance with legislation in
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements, which may
vary from legislation in other jurisdictions. The
maintenance and integrity of the company’s website
is the responsibility of the Board members. The
Board members’ responsibility also extends to the
ongoing integrity of the financial statements
contained therein.

THE BOARD MEMBERS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR PREPARING THE
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH
APPLICABLE LAW AND REGULATIONS.

R E P O R T O F T H E B OA R D

Going Concern
After making enquiries and reviewing cash flows, the members of the Board have a reasonable expectation that the
Board has adequate resources to continue operations for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.
The recent suspension of ferry services by P&O Ferries has also given rise to operational challenges albeit it is not
expected to have any material impact on the Port. It is being mitigated with additional sailings provided by the other
ferry operators.

Internal Control
The Board members acknowledge that they are
responsible for the Board’s systems of internal control
and for reviewing their effectiveness. These systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate, the
risks that could potentially impact on the Board’s
ability to meet its objectives. It should be recognised
that such systems can only provide reasonable not
absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.
There is an ongoing formal process for identifying,
evaluating and managing risks faced by the Board
- the risk management process and systems of
internal control. Risk assessment and evaluation take
place as integral parts of the annual corporate
planning cycle. Each business sector is required to
identify and document risks which might influence
the attainment of business objectives. This
information is then reviewed and assessed according
to impact and probability. Risks are segregated into
those which are routinely reported at regular intervals
to Board members and those less significant risks
which are routinely monitored by management.
The risk management processes continued to be
refined and developed during the year by the Legal
and Risk team. There are risk registers which identify
the risks faced by the organisation and detail the
controls that manage the risks and where necessary,
the action plans to mitigate the risk exposure. The
Board reviews the strategic risks at every meeting

with the Audit Committee providing assurance to the
Board that the process of risk management is
operating effectively .
During the year the internal auditors monitor risk
compliance and provide monitoring reports directly
to the Audit Committee. During the year the Audit
Committee:
reviews the internal and external audit plans;
c onsiders reports from internal audit on the system
of internal control and significant control
weaknesses; and
 iscusses with management actions and progress in
d
dealing with identified problem areas.

The External Auditor’s Responsibilities
The external auditors are required to form an
independent opinion on the financial statements
presented by the Board members based on their
audit and to report their opinion to the Secretary of
State for Transport and to the Board members. Their
report states whether, in their opinion, the financial
statements prepared by the Board give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Board at 31
December 2021, and that the results for the year
then ended comply with Section 42 of the Harbours
Act 1964 (as amended by later Statutory Instruments
and Companies Act legislation).
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Members’ Responsibilities
All of the current Board and Executive Management
have taken steps to make themselves aware of any
information needed by the auditors for the purpose
of their audit and to establish that the auditors are
aware of that information. The Board and Executive
Management are not aware of any relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware.

Modern Slavery Statement
This statement is made pursuant to section 54(5) of
the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and sets out the
Group’s commitment to adherence to the Act, for the
financial year ending 31 December 2021.
The Board acknowledges its legal obligation and has a
zero tolerance approach to any form of modern
slavery. It is committed to having effective systems
and controls in place to ensure that slavery and
human trafficking do not occur within our workplace
and supply chain. As an important gateway to the UK
it provides facilities in order for Border Force to
undertake its responsibilities. Supported by the Port of
Dover Police, the Board is also committed to working
with the border agencies to assist them in detecting
and disrupting human trafficking which could
potentially occur at the Port.

The Group operates a robust approach to
recruitment and conduct proper checks on the
rights of candidates to work in the UK. To safeguard
against human trafficking or individuals being
forced to work against their will, the Group uses a
third party to vet and conduct eligibility checks,
validity of candidates’ qualifications and to check
criminal records.
Through its supply chain the Group acts ethically
and with integrity in our business dealings and are
committed to improving its procurement processes
to identify risk areas associated with new suppliers,
to undertake due diligence when reassessing
existing suppliers, to build long-term relationships
with its suppliers so that they understand and
adhere to the Board’s expectations and to invoke
sanction against suppliers who fail to meet them.
Many of the suppliers are of a size where they too
are subject to the reporting requirements of the
Modern Slavery Act 2015 and the Board’s tender
processes focus heavily on qualitative assessment of
suitable tenders.
The Board is not aware of any breaches.

Tim Reardon

Company Secretary

R E P O R T O F T H E B OA R D

THROUGH ITS SUPPLY CHAIN THE GROUP ACTS ETHICALLY AND
WITH INTEGRITY IN OUR BUSINESS DEALINGS.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
TO T H E M EM BER S O F DOV ER HARBOU R BOARD
OPINION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

In our opinion:

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that
the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

	the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs
as at 31 December 2021 and of the Group’s profit for the
year then ended;
	the financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and
	the financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and
Harbours Act 1964, as amended by the Transport Act 1981.
We have audited the financial statements of Dover Harbour
Board (the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the
‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2021 which
comprise consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated and
board statement of financial position, the consolidated and
board statement of changes in reserves, the consolidated
statement of cash flows and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting
Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in
the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including
the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s and Parent Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from
when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
consolidated annual financial statements, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this
gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

OTHER COMPANIES ACT 2006 AND HARBOURS
ACT 1964, AS AMENDED BY THE TRANSPORT
ACT 1981 REPORTING
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course
of the audit:
	the information given in the Strategic report and the
Directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements; and
	the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
Group and Parent Company and its environment obtained in
the course of the audit, we have not identified material
misstatements in the Strategic report or the Directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 and
Harbours Act 1964, as amended by the Transport Act 1981
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
	adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or
	the Parent Company financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
	certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by
law are not made; or
	we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
As explained more fully in the statement of responsibilities of
the Board, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give
a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:
We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory
framework applicable to Dover Harbour Board and the
industry in which it operates, and considered the risk of acts
by Dover Harbour Board that were contrary to applicable
laws and regulations, including fraud.
	We considered Dover Harbour Board’s compliance with
laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the
financial statements including, but not limited to, UK
company law (including the Companies Act 2006 and
Harbours Act 1964, as amended by the Transport Act
1981) and UK tax legislation, and we considered the extent
to which non-compliance might have a material effect on
the Dover Harbour Board financial statements.
	We addressed the risk of management override of internal
controls, including testing journal entries processed during
and subsequent to the year and evaluating whether there
was evidence of bias by the Directors and management that
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
	We designed audit procedures to identify instances of noncompliance with such laws and regulations. Our
procedures included reviewing the financial statement
disclosures and agreeing to underlying supporting
documentation where necessary. We reviewed minutes of
all Board meetings held during and subsequent to the year
for any indicators of non-compliance and made enquiries
of management and of the Directors as to the risks of noncompliance and any instances thereof.
	We designed audit procedures that specifically address the
fraud risk due to improper revenue recognition. Through
our tailored procedures, we were able to mitigate the
fraud risk by focusing on where management may feel
pressure to achieve expected results to achieve bonuses.
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of
material misstatement in the financial statements, recognising
that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to
fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by,
for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion.
There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures
performed and the further removed non-compliance with
laws and regulations is from the events and transactions
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reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we are to
become aware of it.
A further description of our responsibilities is available on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

USE OF OUR REPORT
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members,
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 and Harbour Act 1964, as amended by
the Transport Act 1981. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Parent Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Anna Draper
(Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Gatwick, United Kingdom
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England
and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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Consolidated Income Statement
Y E A R EN DED 31 DECEM BER 2021

Total
2021

Total
2020

Notes

£’000

£’000

Turnover

1

68,696

61,387

Net operating costs

2

(57,642)

(60,179)

11,054

1,208

Headline EBITDA

26,511

20,310

Depreciation and amortisation

(15,075)

(16,449)

Headline operating profit

11,436

3,861

Operating Profit
Analysed as:

Exceptional maintenance

(2,962)

Adjustment for defined benefit pension cost

-

Exchange (losses)/gains

(198)

Profit on disposal of fixed assets
Gain/(loss) from changes in fair value of investment property

(5)
10

Other operating income

(3,074)
(200)
609
27

1,405

(1,325)

1,378

1,310

11,054

1,208

Operating Profit

3

Interest payable and similar charges

4

(3,966)
27

298

5

(785)

(815)

6,330

(3,392)

7

(2,733)

(3,051)

3,597

(6,443)

Income from current asset investments
Other finance costs
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax on profit/(loss)
Profit/(loss) for the financial year
The results for the year arise wholly from continuing operations of the Group.
The notes on pages 69 to 84 form part of the financial statements.

(4,083)

|

59

60

|

F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S

Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income
Y E A R EN DED 31 DECEM BER 2021

Notes
Profit/(loss) for the financial year
Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised on defined benefit pension scheme
Taxation in respect of items of other comprehensive income

21

Total
2021

Total
2020

£’000

£’000

3,597

(6,443)

15,102

(3,105)

(3,832)

581

Other comprehensive gain/(loss) for the year

11,270

(2,524)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

14,867

(8,967)

3,597

(6,443)

3,597

(6,443)

14,867

(8,967)

14,867

(8,967)

Profit/(loss) for the financial year attributable to:
Dover Harbour Board

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Dover Harbour Board

The notes on pages 69 to 84 form part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated and Board Statement of
Financial Position
A S AT 31 DECEM BER 2021

GROUP
Notes

BOARD

2021

2020

2021

2020

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets

10

343,120

331,703

342,579

330,940

Goodwill

9

-

-

-

-

Investments

11

-

-

-

-

343,120

331,703

342,579

330,940

666

627

666

627

Current assets
Stocks
Debtors

12

12,972

20,687

14,169

21,516

Investments

13

35,685

35,661

35,685

35,661

21,620

18,684

21,222

18,254

Cash at bank and in hand
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

14

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

70,943

75,659

71,742

76,058

(29,236)

(17,818)

(29,168)

(17,657)

41,707

57,841

42,574

58,401

384,827

389,544

385,153

389,341

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year

15

(156,426)

(163,030)

(156,426)

(163,030)

Provision for liabilities

17

(12,095)

(10,138)

(12,110)

(10,138)

Net assets excluding pension surplus/(liability)
Pension surplus/(liability)
Net assets

216,306
21

1,161

216,376
(13,776)

216,617
1,161

216,173
(13,776)

217,467

202,600

217,778

202,397

217,467

202,600

217,778

202,397

217,467

202,600

217,778

202,397

Capital and reserves
Profit and loss account

The loss after tax of Dover Harbour Board for the year was £4,055,000 (2020: loss of £6,903,000).
The notes on pages 69 to 84 form part of the financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 59 to 84 were approved by the Board on 27 April 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

J. Douglas Bannister				

Jonathan Pascoe
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Consolidated and Board Statement of
Changes in Reserves
A S AT 31 DECEM BER 2021

Notes
As at 1 January 2020

GROUP

BOARD

£’000

£’000

211,567

211,824

Loss for the financial year

8

(6,443)

(6,903)

Actuarial loss on pension scheme

21

(3,105)

(3,105)

Taxation in respect of other comprehensive income

581

581

Other comprehensive loss for the year

(2,524)

(2,524)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(8,967)

(9,427)

As at 31 December 2020

202,600

202,397

Profit for the financial year

8

3,597

4,055

Actuarial gain on pension scheme

21

15,102

15,102

Taxation in respect of other comprehensive income

(3,832)

(3,776)

Other comprehensive income for the year

11,270

11,326

Total comprehensive income for the year

14,867

15,381

217,467

217,778

As at 31 December 2021
The notes on pages 69 to 84 form part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows
Y E A R EN DED 31 DECEM BER 2021

Notes
Cashflows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) for the financial period

Total
2021
£’000

Total
2020
£’000

3,597

(6,443)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation charges

10

15,075

16,086

Goodwill amortisation

9

-

363

Profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets

3

Net fair value (gain)/loss recognised in income statement

10

Exchange loss/(gain)

3

Net interest payable

5
(1,405)
198
3,949

Cost of finance

(27)
1,325
(609)
3,785

785

815

Taxation expense

7

2,733

3,051

Adjustment for defined benefit pension cost

21

-

200

Grant income

(1,378)

Stock (increase)/decrease

(39)

Debtors decrease/(increase)

708

Creditors increase
Provision decrease

8,421
17

Cash from operations

(20)
32,629

Interest paid

(1,310)
96
(5,863)
340
(9)
11,800

(3,966)

(4,083)

Cost of finance

(518)

(303)

Taxation received/(paid)

214

(641)

Net cash generated from operating activities
Cashflows from investing activities
Purchase of tangible fixed assets

10

28,359

6,773

(25,087)

(11,834)

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets

52

44

Interest received

27

298

Net cash from investing activities

(25,008)

(11,492)

Cash flows from financing activities
Grants received

4,643

5,670

Repayment of loans

(5,034)

(2,462)

Net cash from financing activities

(391)

3,208

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

2,960
54,345

(1,511)
55,856

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

57,305

54,345

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash at bank and in hand
Investments

21,620
35,685

18,684
35,661

57,305

54,345

The notes on pages 69 to 84 form part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Accounting Policies
Y E A R EN DED 31 DECEM BER 2021

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with FRS102 the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and
Republic of Ireland.
The preparation of financial statements in compliance
with FRS102 requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise judgement in applying the accounting policies.

	
No disclosure has been given for the aggregate
remuneration of the key management personnel
(see note 22) of the parent company as their
remuneration is included in the totals for the
group as a whole.
The following principal accounting policies have
been applied:
CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

GOING CONCERN
The Board meets its day to day working capital
requirements through its bank facilities.
The Board’s forecasts and projects have been stress
tested to take into account the ongoing COVID 19
pandemic and the trade flows in early 2021 following
the UK’s exit from the European Union, and the
current operator issues with P&O Ferries.
Even in extreme scenarios of a prolonged impact of
COVID 19 on the Board’s tourist markets forecasts
show that the Board should be able to operate within
the level of its current facilities. Any breach of financial
covenants to investors would only occur in very
extreme and unlikely scenarios where ferry freight
volumes reduced significantly below 2020 levels and
these are assessed as being extremely improbable
given the resilience of the route and the numbers
seen in 2020 through COVID 19 pandemic. After
reviewing these scenarios and making reasonable
enquiries the Board has a reasonable expectation that
the Group has adequate cash flow and resources to
continue to continue in operation and to be able to
undertake its statutory duties and pay its liabilities for
the foreseeable future.
The Dover Harbour Board continues to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing its financial
statements.
PARENT COMPANY DISCLOSURE EXEMPTIONS
In preparing the separate financial statements of the
parent company, advantage has been taken of the
following disclosure exemptions available in FRS102:
	
No cash flow statement has been presented for
the parent company; and

The consolidated financial statements present the
results of Dover Harbour Board and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) as if they formed a single entity.
Uniform accounting policies are applied across the
group. Intercompany transactions and balances
between group companies are therefore eliminated
in full.
TURNOVER
Turnover comprises the revenue value, exclusive of
value added tax, of services provided to third parties
in respect of shipping activity, port operations, and
logistics together with income from property and
sundry other revenue.
Revenue in respect of shipping activity, port
operations and logistics is recognised when the
service has been provided. Rental income arising
from operating leases is accounted for on a straight
line basis. Other revenue comprises other sundry
amounts recognised on an accruals basis.
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Tangible fixed assets, other than investment
properties, are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Nothing is included in respect
of assets granted under the Charter of James I and
subsequent Acts of Parliament. The amount does not
and is not intended to represent the value of the
Board’s capital assets. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management.
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The group adds to the carrying amount of an item of
fixed assets the cost of replacing part of such an
item when that cost is incurred if the replacement
part is expected to provide incremental future
benefits to the group. The carrying amount of the
part replaced is derecognised.

VALUATION OF INVESTMENTS

Items are categorised as work-in-progress until such
time as the project is complete and can then be
allocated across the other categories.

Assets that are subject to depreciation are assessed at
each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication that the assets are impaired. Where there is
any indication that an asset may be impaired, the
carrying value of the asset is tested for impairment.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount.

Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or
loss during the period in which they are incurred.
DEPRECIATION
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and
depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
prospectively if appropriate, if there is an indication of
a significant change since the last reporting date.
Capital Work in Progress is not depreciated until the
asset comes into economic use.
Land and work-in-progress are not depreciated.
Depreciation on other assets is charged so as to
allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight line
method. The maximum estimated useful lives range as
follows:

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less
accumulated impairment.
IMPAIRMENT OF FIXED ASSETS

The recoverable amount is the higher of the assets fair
value less cost to sell and value in use. Non-financial
assets that have previously been impaired are
reviewed at each reporting date to assess whether
there is any indication that the impairment losses
recognised in prior periods may no longer exist or may
have decreased.
GRANTS

B
 uildings

- between 15 and 50 years

Wharves,

quays, etc

- 50 years

S hips and floating
craft

- 25 years

Grants are accounted for under the accruals model as
permitted by FRS102. Grants receivable in respect of
tangible fixed assets are credited to the profit and loss
account over the expected useful economic lives of
the relevant assets to which they relate. Grants
received but not yet released to the profit and loss
account are included as deferred income in the
balance sheet.

S ite preparation
and dredging

- 125 years

Grants of a revenue nature are recognised in the profit
or loss in the same period as the related expenditure.

N
 avigational aids

- 10 years

Plant

and machinery

- between 2 and 40 years

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within ‘other operating income’
in the statement of comprehensive income.
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Investment property is carried at fair value and
reviewed annually, with an external valuation at
least every three years.
The value of these properties have been
determined by the directors or external valuers
and derived from current market rents and
investment property yields for comparable real
estate, adjusted if necessary for any difference in
the nature, location or condition of the specific
asset. No depreciation is provided. Changes in fair
values are recognised in profit or loss.

Certain EU grants are recognised in the balance sheet
for the receivable as the lower of:
a)	The grant award percentage of the expected
project costs multiplied by the exchange rate at the
grant date (capped at the budget project costs on
grant application multiplied by the exchange rate at
the grant date) less amounts received to date (in
euros) all divided by the exchange rate at the
balance sheet date; and
b)	The grant award percentage of the expected
project costs multiplied by the current exchange
rate (capped at budget project costs on grant
application multiplied by the exchange rate at the
grant date) less amounts received to date (in
euros) all divided by the exchange rate at the
balance sheet date.
At the date of the final grant application having been
processed the total amount in Sterling that has been
awarded will crystallise. This will determine an
adjustment to the total amount of deferred income
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to be recognised in the balance sheet. The remaining
debtor will be converted at the exchange rate at the
date of the final grant application and any exchange
gain or loss taken to the profit and loss account.

T he recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to
the extent that it is probable that they will be
recovered against the reversal of deferred tax
liabilities or other future taxable profits;

If there remains an outstanding debtor at the year
end this will be converted at the exchange rate at
the balance sheet date and any exchange gain or
loss taken to the profit and loss account.

 ny deferred tax balances are reversed if and
A
when all conditions for retaining associated tax
allowances have been met; and

STOCKS
Stocks, which comprise fuel, engineering spares and
consumables, are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is based on the cost of purchase
on a first in, first out basis. At each reporting date
stocks are assessed for impairment and any loss
recognised immediately in the profit or loss.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Foreign currency transactions are translated into
Sterling using the exchange rate prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
profit or loss.
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented on profit or loss within ‘finance income
or costs’. All other foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in profit or loss within ‘other
operating income’.
CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS
These short-term investments are recognised at
market value and any unrealised gains or losses on
the revaluation of the investment are recognised in
profit or loss for the period.
CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION
The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
that a charge attributable to an item of income or
expense recognised as other comprehensive income is
also recognised in other comprehensive income.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
Deferred balances are recognised in respect of all
timing differences that have originated but not
reversed by the balance sheet date, except:

 eferred tax balances are not recognised in
D
respect of permanent differences.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date.
LEASED ASSETS: LESSOR
Incentive payments to new tenants to occupy the
group’s investment properties are treated as a
reduction in revenue and initially recorded as
prepayments. The payments are charged to the
profit or loss over the term of the lease. Where the
prepayments relate to investment properties, the
properties are carried at open fair value less the
amount of the unamortised incentive.
However, the group has taken advantage of the
optional exemption available on transition to
FRS102 which allows lease incentives on leases
entered into before the date of transition to the
standard (1 January 2014) to continue to be charged
over the period to the first market rent review rather
than the term of the lease.
All other leases are treated as operating leases. The
annual rentals are charged to profit or loss on a
straight line basis over the term of the lease..
LEASED ASSETS: LESSEE
Assets held under finance leases and other similar
contracts, which confer rights and obligations similar
to those attached to owned assets, are capitalised as
tangible fixed assets and are depreciated over the
shorter of the lease terms and their useful lives. The
capital elements of future lease obligations are
recorded as liabilities, while the interest elements are
charged to profit or loss over the period of the leases
to produce a constant rate of charge on the balance
of capital repayments outstanding.
All other leases are treated as operating leases. The
annual rentals are charged to profit or loss on a
straight line basis over the term of the lease.
PENSIONS
The difference between the fair value of the assets
held in the group’s defined benefit pension scheme
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and the scheme’s liabilities measured on an actuarial
basis using the projected unit method are recognised
in the group’s balance sheet as a pension asset or
liability as appropriate. The carrying value of any
resulting pension scheme asset is restricted to the
extent that the surplus is able to be recovered either
through reduced contributions in the future or
through refunds from the scheme.
Contributions to the group’s defined contribution
scheme are charged to profit or loss in the year in
which they become payable. Amounts not paid are
shown in accruals in the balance sheet. The assets of
the plan are held separately from the Board in
independently administered funds.
HOLIDAY PAY ACCRUAL
A liability is recognised to the extent of any unused
holiday pay entitlement which has accrued at the
balance sheet date and carried forward to future
periods. This is measured at the undiscounted salary
cost of the future holiday entitlement so accrued at
the balance sheet date.
PROVISIONS
A provision is recognised where there is a present
obligation, whether legal or constructive, as a result
of a past event for which it is probable that a
transfer of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reasonable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
Business combinations are accounted for by applying
the purchase method.
The cost of a business combination is the fair value of
the consideration given, liabilities incurred or assumed
and of equity instruments issued plus costs directly
attributable to the business combination.
On acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed
to identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
unless the fair value cannot be measured reliably, in
which case the value is incorporated into goodwill.
Where the fair value of contingent liabilities cannot be
reliably measured they are disclosed on the same basis
as other contingent liabilities.
Goodwill recognised represents the excess of the fair
value and directly attributable costs of the purchase
consideration over the fair values to the Board’s interest
in the identifiable net assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired.
Goodwill is amortised over its expected useful life on a
straight line basis. Where it is not possible to make a

reliable estimate of useful life, goodwill is amortised
over a period not exceeding five years (see note 9).
Goodwill in the balance sheet is amortised over 5 years.
FINANCE COSTS
Finance costs are charged to the profit or loss over
the term of the debt using the effective interest rate
method so that the amount charged is at a constant
rate on the carrying amount. Issue costs are initially
recognised as a reduction in the proceeds of the
associated capital instrument.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
i.	Financial assets
Basic financial assets, including trade and other
receivables, loans to group undertakings, cash and
bank balances and investments in commercial
paper, are initially recognised at transaction price,
unless the arrangement constitutes a financing
transaction, where the transaction is measured at
the present value of the future receipts discounted
at a market rate of interest.
Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.
Other financial assets, including investments in
equity instruments which are not subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures, are initially measured at
fair value, which is normally the transaction price.
Such assets are subsequently carried at fair value
and the changes in fair value are recognised in
profit or loss.
ii.	Financial liabilities
Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other
payables, bank loans, loans from fellow Group
companies are initially recognised at transaction
price, unless the arrangement constitutes a
financing transaction, where the debt instrument
is measured at the present value of the future
receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.
Debt instruments are subsequently carried at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the
fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
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services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods
and services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers. They
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less. If not, they are presented
as non-current liabilities and recognised initially at
transaction price and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATING
UNCERTAINTY
In preparing these financial statements, the Board
has made the following judgements:
	
Determine whether leases entered into by the
group either as a lessor or lessee are operating
leases or finance leases. This depend on an
assessment of whether the risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred from the lessor
to the lessee on a lease by lease basis; and
	
Determine whether there are indicators of
impairment of the group’s tangible fixed assets.
Factors taken into consideration in reaching such
a decision include the economic viability and
expected future financial performance of the asset
and where it is a component of a larger cash
generating unit, the viability and expected future
performance of that unit.
	
Determine whether there are indicators of
impairment of the Board’s investment in its
subsidiaries . Factors taken into consideration in
reaching such a decision include the economic
viability and expected future financial performance
of the investment.
	
Determine whether there are indicators of
impairment of current assets (stock and trade
debtors). Factors taken into consideration in
reaching such a decision include the age of
stock and whether trade debtors are paid by
their due date.
OTHER KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets, other than investment
properties, are depreciated over their useful lives
taking into account residual values, where

appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and
residual values are assessed annually and may vary
depending on a number of factors. In re-assessing
asset lives, factors such as technological
innovation, product life cycles and maintenance
programmes are taken into account. Residual value
assessments consider issues such as future market
conditions, the remaining life of the asset and
projected disposal values.
Investment properties are professionally valued
using a yield method. This uses market rental
values capitalised at a market capitalisation rate
but there is an inevitable degree of judgement
involved in that each property is unique and value
can only be reliably tested in the market itself. Key
inputs into the valuations were:
Essential maintenance costs;
A
 nnual rent per square metre; and
Capitalisation rate.
The outbreak of the Covid 19 pandemic in 2020,
impacted many aspects of daily life and the global
economy throughout both 2020 and 2021 – with
some real estate markets experiencing significantly
lower levels of transactional activity and liquidity.
At 31 December 2020 the Directors had valued a
hotel within its investment property portfolio at
£2.9m. However the Directors in arriving at this
valuation recognise that there is a shortage of
market evidence for comparison purposes, to inform
opinions of value. Consequently, less certainty – and
a higher degree of caution – should be attached to
this valuation than would normally be the case. This
degree of caution had eased by the 31 December
2021 valuation of this investment property.
Defined benefit scheme
Details of the Group’s defined benefit pension
scheme are set out in note 21. At 31 December
2021, the retirement benefit surplus recognised on
the Group’s balance sheet was £1,161,000 (2020:
Liability £13,776,000). The effects of changes in
the actuarial assumptions underlying the benefit
obligation, discount rates and the differences
between expected and actual returns on the
schemes’ assets are classified as actuarial gains and
losses and are recognised in other comprehensive
income. During 2021, the Group recognised a net
actuarial gain of £15,102,000 (2020: loss of
£3,105,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Y E A R EN DED 31 DECEM BER 2021

1. TURNOVER
Dues – Ships
– Goods

Total

Total

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

22,001

19,427

31,475

27,650

– Passengers

1,753

2,211

– Security

1,873

2,041

57,102

51,329

3,763

2,738

778

554

-

7

Other Port Services

1,827

2,020

Estates & Other Income

5,226

4,739

68,696

61,387

Total
2021
£’000

Total
2020
£’000

Operations

40,476

39,110

Maintenance

10,180

11,168

250

268

Cargo handling
Pilotage – Services
Pilotage – Exemption Certificates

2. NET OPERATING COSTS

Dredging
Pilotage

617

692

Administration and other general expenditures

8,902

8,926

Other operating income

(1,378)

(1,310)

(Gains)/losses from changes in fair value of investment property

(1,405)

1,325

57,642

60,179
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3. OPERATING PROFIT

Notes

Total

Total

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

This is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Auditors’ remuneration
– Audit of Group financial statements

79

59

– Audit of subsidiary financial statements

21

20

– Other services

-

Exchange rate loss/(gains)

198

Non-domestic rates

2,193

22
(609)
2,254

Hire of plant & machinery – operating leases

-

25

Profit on disposal of fixed assets

5

(27)

Charge for historical cost depreciation
– Tangible fixed assets
Charge for amortisation of goodwill

10
9

15,075
-

16,086
363

Credit for amortisation of grants received

(1,378)

(1,310)

Defined contribution pension scheme

2,499

2,483

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme grant

-

Restructuring costs
Defined benefit pension scheme

21

(517)

828

560

-

200

Total

Total

4. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Interest

3,966

4,083

3,966

4,083

Total

Total

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Cost of finance

617

584

Net interest on net defined benefit liability

165

205

3

26

785

815

5. OTHER FINANCE COSTS

Exchange losses

F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S

GROUP

6. EMPLOYEES

BOARD

Total
2021

Total
2020

Total
2021

Total
2020

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

14,909

14,835

12,445

12,055

1,632

1,624

1,410

1,381

-

200

-

200

2,599

2,616

2,499

2,483

Staff costs (including remuneration to the Board members)
were:
Wages & salaries
Social security costs
Defined benefit pension costs
Defined contribution pension costs
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme grant

(8)

(517)

(8)

(277)

19,132

18,758

16,346

15,842

276
106

314
104

194
86

196
88

382

418

280

284

Operational & maintenance staff

240

249

186

180

Administrative & IT staff

103

97

83

83

343

346

269

263

The average weekly number of persons (including
Board members) employed by the Group on a
continuing basis during the year was:
Operational & maintenance staff
Administrative & IT staff

The average weekly number of full time equivalents
(including Board members) employed by the Group
on a continuing basis during the year was:

Details of Board members remuneration can be found on page 39 of this report.
Pension entitlement
The highest paid executive member, Mr J D Bannister, does not receive any pension benefits. No pension contributions
were made in respect of all Board members and no pension benefits accrue to them.
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7. TAXATION

Total
2021
£’000

Total
2020
£’000

(a) Analysis of charge in period
UK corporation tax:
Current tax on profits for the year
Adjustment in respect of prior years
Total current tax
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences

1,859

434

39

(539)

1,898

(105)

755

Adjustment in respect of prior year

(2,163)

Effect of decreased tax rate on opening balances

1,892

510
2,102
796

Deferred tax on investment property (loss)/gain

351

Total deferred tax

835

3,156

2,733

3,051

Profit on ordinary activities before tax

6,330

(3,392)

Profit multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of
19.00% (2020: 19.00%)

1,203

(644)

Tax on profit

(252)

(b) Factors affecting tax charge for the period
The tax assessed for the year is different than the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK applied to the profit before tax. The differences
are explained below:

Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Income not taxable

2,003
(308)

1,336
-

Re-measurement of deferred tax – change in UK rate

1,959

Adjustment in respect of prior years

(2,124)

1,563

796

2,733

3,051

The aggregate current and deferred tax relating to items recognised in other comprehensive income is a tax charge
of £3,832,000 (2020: credit £581,000).
The deferred tax adjustment in respect of prior years amounting to £2,163,000 tax credit (2020: £2,102,000 tax
charge) reflects the timing difference on accelerated capital allowances after reassessment of qualifying assets and
their calculated tax written down values.
For further information on deferred tax balances see note 18.
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8. PARENT COMPANY PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Dover Harbour Board has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006
and has not presented its own statement of comprehensive income in these financial statements. The profit after
tax of Dover Harbour Board for the year was £4,055,000 (2020: loss of £6,903,000).

GROUP
9. FIXED ASSETS –
GOODWILL

Total
£’000

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021

908

At 31 December 2021

908

Amortisation
At 1 January 2021

908

At 31 December 2021

908

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2021

-

At 31 December 2020

-
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GROUP
Investment
Property

Freehold
Land &
Buildings

Floating
Craft

Plant &
Equipment

Capital
Work in
Progress

Total

10. FIXED ASSETS –
TANGIBLE ASSETS

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021

5,084

402,115

12,306

149,538

12,221

581,264

Additions

-

2,562

-

122

22,459

25,143

Transfers

-

4,223

-

211

Disposals

-

(1,440)

-

(4,434)

(2,099)

-

-

(3,539)

Revaluation

1,405

-

-

-

-

1,405

At 31 December 2021

6,489

407,460

12,306

147,772

30,246

604,273

Depreciation
At 1 January 2021

-

157,529

8,049

83,983

-

249,561

Provisions for the period

-

8,643

274

6,158

-

15,075

Disposals

-

(1,402)

(2,081)

-

At 31 December 2021

-

164,770

8,323

88,060

-

261,153

At 31 December 2021

6,489

242,690

3,983

59,712

30,246

343,120

At 31 December 2020

5,084

244,586

4,257

65,555

12,221

331,703

-

(3,483)

Net Book Value

The Group’s investment properties are valued annually at fair value by the Directors and every third year by an
independent, professionally qualified valuer. The valuations as at 31 December 2021 were undertaken by the
directors, after receiving advice from an independent, professionally qualified valuer. This resulted in a decrease in
the carrying value of the properties. The valuations have been prepared in accordance with the RICS Valuation
Global Standards (the “Red Book”). The profit on revaluation of investment properties arising of £1,405,000 (Board:
£1,405,000) has been charged to the profit and loss account for the year. All other tangible assets are stated at
historical cost.
If investment properties had been accounted for under the historic cost accounting rules, the properties would have
been measured as follows:
GROUP AND BOARD
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Historic cost

8,459

8,459

Accumulated depreciation and impairments

(5,550)

(5,381)

2,909

3,078
Continued »
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BOARD
Investment
Property

Freehold
Land &
Buildings

Floating
Craft

Plant &
Equipment

Capital
Work in
Progress

Total

10. FIXED ASSETS –
TANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2021

5,084

402,112

12,306

147,712

12,586

579,800

Additions

-

2,562

-

89

22,459

25,110

Transfers

-

4,223

-

211

Disposals

-

(1,440)

-

(4,434)

(1,968)

-

-

(3,408)

Revaluation

1,405

-

-

-

-

1,405

At 31 December 2021

6,489

407,457

12,306

146,044

30,611

602,907

Depreciation
At 1 January 2021

-

157,529

8,049

83,282

-

248,860

Charge for the period

-

8,643

274

5,913

-

14,830

Disposals

-

(1,402)

(1,960)

-

At 31 December 2021

-

164,770

8,323

87,235

-

260,328

At 31 December 2021

6,489

242,687

3,983

58,809

30,611

342,579

At 31 December 2020

5,084

244,583

4,257

64,430

12,586

330,940

-

(3,362)

Net Book Value

11. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Dover Harbour Board owns 100% of the group undertakings. The investment cost at 31 December 2021 was £205
(2020: £205). The investment book value at 31 December was £205 (2020: £205).
The undertakings (all of which are incorporated in England and Wales and registered at Harbour House, Marine
Parade, Dover, CT17 9BU) in which the Group’s interest at the year end are 20% or more are as follows:
Proportion of voting
rights and ordinary
share capital held

Company

Business

Port of Dover Cargo Limited

Cargo handling

100%

Core Operational and Services Team Limited

Labour Supply

100%

Dover Waterfront Limited

Holding company

100%

Dover Western Docks Limited

Dormant

100%

Dover Developments Limited*

Project management services

100%

Port of Dover Limited

Dormant

100%

Port of Dover Consultancy Services Limited

Dormant

100%

D.C.L. Kent Limited

Dormant

100%

*Dover Developments Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Dover Waterfront Limited
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GROUP
12. DEBTORS

BOARD

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2021
£’000

9,717

10,302

9,556

9,521

2020
£’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors
Amounts owed by Group undertakings
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Amounts falling due after one year:
Deferred tax asset

-

-

1,482

1,787

566

5,130

544

5,091

2,689

2,565

2,587

2,499

12,972

17,997

14,169

18,898

-

2,690

-

2,618

-

2,690

-

2,618

12,972

20,687

14,169

21,516

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, have no fixed date for repayment and are repayable on demand.
Included within other debtors are the following amounts in respect of grants receivable.

GROUP AND BOARD

EU DWDR Objective 1 Grant

2021

2020

£’000

£’000

-

4,841

Grants have been awarded against infrastructure projects and are claimed against the actual expenditure incurred.
They are released against Other Operating Income over the useful life of the assets for which the grant was awarded.
The deferred tax asset recognised in the prior year in respect of the defined benefits pension scheme will reverse over
the life of the scheme subject to changes in valuations of the defined benefit obligations and plan assets.
The impairment loss recognised in the Group and Board profit or loss for the period in respect of bad and doubtful
trade debtors was Group £204,000; Board £204,000 (2020: Group £325,000; Board £325,000).
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13. CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS
Dover Harbour Board invested in a AAA rated
Cash Plus Fund. The fund held investments in the
form of cash, covered bonds, conventional gilts,
supranational bonds and certificates of deposit.
The cost and market value of these investments
are shown below. The stock exchange value of
these investments is the same as the market value.
Value at 1 January 2021

GROUP AND BOARD
2021

2021

2020

2020

Market
value

Book
value

Market
value

Book
value

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

35,661

35,652

40,388

40,379

Purchases

-

-

10,000

10,000

Sales

-

-

(15,000)

(15,000)

24

24

273

273

35,685

35,676

35,661

35,652

Interest reinvested
Value at 31 December 2021

14. CREDITORS:
AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

GROUP
2021

2020

BOARD
2021

2020

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

-

289

540

Trade creditors

3,041

3,288

2,984

3,214

Taxation & social security payable

2,385

203

2,272

102

Amounts owed to Group undertakings

Accruals and deferred income

17,490

8,086

17,324

7,568

Private placement bond

1,388

1,343

1,388

1,343

EIB loan

3,794

3,690

3,794

3,690

Other

1,138

1,208

1,117

1,200

29,236

17,818

29,168

17,657

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date for repayment and are
repayable on demand.

GROUP AND BOARD
15. CREDITORS:
AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER ONE YEAR

2021

2020

£’000

£’000

Private placement bond

51,614

53,002

EIB loan

65,708

69,503

Issue costs
Deferred income

(251)

(265)

39,355

40,790

156,426

163,030

Deferred income relates to grants which will be released to the consolidated income statement to match the costs
for which the grants were awarded (see note 12).
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GROUP AND BOARD
2021

2020

£’000

£’000

Private placement bond

53,002

54,345

EIB loan

69,502

73,193

122,504

127,538

16. LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Board’s financing facilities consist of short, medium and long term debt and are made up as follows:
Private Placement Bond
Allianz Global Investors have provided a 30 year, £55 million 3.63%, senior, fully amortising note facility with
final payment due in 2046. The notes will be drawn in three tranches. The first tranche of £55,000 was drawn in
December 2016 and the other tranches during 2018. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears.

Tranche

Amount
£’000

Drawdown
Date

Fixed Interest
Rate

Capital Repayment
Commences

December 2016

3.63%

December 2020

1

55

2

24,945

January 2018

3.63%

December 2020

3

30,000

June 2018

3.63%

December 2020

Senior Loans
The European Investment Bank (EIB) have provided a 20 year, £75 million facility. This fully amortising facility was
drawn in three equal tranches. The first two tranches were drawn in 2018. There was an option under the loan
facility agreement to defer receipt of a tranche by up to six months. This option was exercised on the third tranche
which was drawn in September 2019 instead of March 2019 as previously planned. A non-utilisation fee is payable
quarterly at 0.2% per annum. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The final payment is due in December 2036.

Tranche

Amount
£’000

Drawdown
Date

Fixed Interest
Rate

Capital Repayment
Commences

1

25,000

September 2018

2.743%

December 2020

2

25,000

December 2018

2.776%

December 2020

3

25,000

September 2019

2.806%

December 2020

Revolving Credit Facility
A revolving credit facility of £90 million was signed on 16 May 2016 provided by Lloyds Bank plc and National
Westminster Bank. This was reduced to £70 million on financial close of the term facilities. This facility will provide
working capital and liquidity over the construction phase of the DWDR project. Interest is charged at LIBOR plus
the margin. The margin is 1.05% in year 1, 1.15% in years 2 to 5 and 1.35% in years 6 and 7. A commitment fee
of 35% of the margin is charged on the undrawn amount. The facility has a 5+1+1 term from the date of signing.
A request to extend the termination date of the facility by one year was agreed by the lenders in May 2017 and
a request for a second extension was agreed by lenders in May 2018 which extends the facility termination date
from 2022 to 2023.
Common Terms
All the above facilities fall under a Common Terms Agreement. All the debt under the Common Terms Agreement
rank parri passu and are secured by guarantees from certain group companies and by fixed and floating charge
over all assets other than certain non-operational seafront properties (investment properties).
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GROUP

17. PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES
At 1 January 2021
Debit/(credit) to profit and loss account
At 31 December 2021

Pilots’ National
Pension Fund
£’000

Deferred Tax
(Note 18)
£’000

Total
£’000

182

9,956

10,138

1,977

1,957

11,933

12,095

(20)
162

BOARD

At 1 January 2021
Debit/(credit) to profit and loss account
At 31 December 2021

Pilots’ National
Pension Fund
£’000

Deferred Tax
(Note 18)
£’000

Total
£’000

182

9,956

10,138

1,992

1,972

11,948

12,110

(20)
162

The shortfall in funding on the Pilots’ National Pension Fund (PNPF) has been communicated to all Participating
Bodies and the amount identified as being attributable to Dover Harbour Board has been provided in full. The
payment of deficit contributions against this shortfall is to be spread over 16 years and commenced in 2013.
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GROUP
18. DEFERRED TAXATION

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

11,256

9,890

Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated capital allowances
Other short term timing differences

(21)

(75)

Deferred tax on revaluation of investment properties

408

141

Defined benefit pension scheme

290

-

11,933

9,956

Defined benefit pension scheme

-

2,618

Accelerated capital allowances

-

72

Unutilised tax losses

-

-

-

2,690

Deferred tax assets

BOARD
2021
£’000

2018
£’000

11,256

9,890

Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated capital allowances
Other short term timing differences

(6)

(75)

Deferred tax on revaluation of investment properties

408

141

Defined benefit pension scheme

290

-

11,948

9,956

-

2,618

-

2,618

Deferred tax assets
Defined benefit pension scheme

Future increases or decreases in deferred tax assets and liabilities may arise as a result of revaluations of investment
property, financial instruments and changes in the defined benefit pension liability. As the future deferred tax
balances, if any, will be dependent on future changes in fair values of assets and liabilities, it is not possible to
estimate any future reversals.
In the Spring Budget 2021, the UK Government announced from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate would
increase from 19% to 25% and, therefore, as this law was enacted at 31 December 2021, the Group‘s and the
Board’s deferred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated at this rate as at 31 December 2021.
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GROUP AND BOARD
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

Capital expenditure which has been contracted for but which has not been
provided for in the accounts

1,162

2,371

Capital expenditure which has been authorised by the Board but has not been
contracted for

6,730

7,878

Not later than one year

-

-

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

-

84

-

84

Less than 1 year

-

11

More than 1 year but less than 5 years

-

37

More than 5 years

-

-

-

48

19. COMMITMENTS
a) Capital commitments

(b) Commitments under operating leases
The Group and Board had minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases as set out below:

(c) Commitments under finance leases
The Group and Board had minimum lease payments under finance leases as
set out below:

20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES – GROUP AND BOARD
The Board has given a performance guarantee to Highways England Company Limited in order to construct and
complete the A20 roadworks. The amount guaranteed is £34,000 (2020: £34,000).
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21. PENSIONS – GROUP AND BOARD
Dover Harbour Board operated a defined benefit pension scheme that closed to future accrual on 31 May 2016. This
has been replaced with a defined contribution pension scheme operating in the UK.
The defined benefit scheme is established under an irrevocable deed of trust. The deed determines the appointment
of the trustees to the fund. The trustees of the fund are required to act in the best interest of the beneficiaries.
Pension benefits depend on age, length of service and salary level.
A full actuarial valuation of the defined benefit scheme was carried out as at 31 December 2020. Contributions
to the scheme are made by the Board based on the advice of the actuary to ensure that the statutory funding
objective is met. The Board has agreed to pay a maximum contribution of up to £1,000,000 per annum until 2036,
dependent on how the deficit at each year end compares to a pre-determined value, with the aim of making good
the deficit over that period. No deficit contribution was due in relation to 2021. There were no amounts owed to
the scheme at the year end.
GROUP AND BOARD
2021
2020
£’000
£’000
Defined Benefit Scheme
Reconciliation of present value of plan liabilities
Benefit obligation at beginning of the year
Interest cost
Actuarial (gains)/losses
Benefits paid
Past service cost

242,854

222,174

2,865

4,350

(13,354)

25,457

(8,128)

(9,327)

-

200

224,237

242,854

224,237

242,854

229,078

211,908

2,700

4,145

Return on assets excluding interest income

1,748

22,352

Benefits paid

(8,128)

At the end of the year
Composition of plan liabilities
Plans that are wholly or partly funded
Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at start of the year
Interest income on scheme assets

At the end of the year
Net pension scheme (asset)/liability

225,398
(1,161)

(9,327)
229,078
13,776

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss account are as follows:
Included in net operating costs
Service cost including current service costs, past service costs and settlements
(note 6)

-

200

-

200

165

205

The amount of £200,000 included in past service costs is an additional estimate
of the allowance for GMP equalisation in respect of past transfers in line with the
further judgement passed on 20 November 2021.
Amounts included in other finance costs
Net interest on the net defined pension liability
Analysis of loss recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
Actual return less interest income included in net interest income
Experience losses arising on the scheme liabilities

Actual return on plan assets

(1,748)

(22,352)

(13,354)

25,457

(15,102)

3,105

4,448

26,497
Continued »
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GROUP AND BOARD
21. PENSIONS – GROUP AND BOARD (continued)

2021

2020

Composition of plan assets
The weighted average asset allocation at the year end were as follows:
Equities
Structured equity
Bonds & Gilts
Property
Dynamic asset allocation
Liability Hedge
Cashflow Matching
Other

23%
17%
12%
5%
0%
20%
13%
10%

5%
1%
64%
5%
14%
0%
0%
10%

100%

100%

2021

2020

1.80%
n/a
2.50%
2.70%
3.30%
2.70%
20% of
pension

1.20%
n/a
2.30%
2.20%
2.80%
2.20%
20% of
pension

2021

2020

- Retiring today - Males

21.0

21.1

- Retiring in 20 years time - Males
- Retiring today - Females
- Retiring in 20 years time - Females

22.0
23.5
24.7

21.7
23.4
24.2

2021
£’000

2020
£’000

(8,400)
3,400
11,000

(9,600)
4,600
12,500

Principal actuarial assumptions used at the balance sheet date
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Post 2006 increase
Rate of increase of pensions in deferment
Inflation (RPI)
Inflation (CPI)
Cash commutation

The mortality assumption uses the table S3PA (“SAPS”) adjusted by 105% for
males and 105% for females with year of birth projections and future mortality
improvements in line with CMI 2019 with a long term rate of improvement of
-0.7% per annum and a -0.1% initial addition to improvements.
Mortality rates

Sensitivity analysis
Discount rate increases by 0.25%
Rate of inflation (RPI, CPI and associated terms) increases by 0.25%
Increase in life expectancy at aged 65 by 1 year

2022
£’000
Estimation of next period’s profit or loss
Service cost - including current and past service costs and settlements
Service cost - administrative cost
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability

(21)

Continued »
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21. PENSIONS – GROUP AND BOARD (continued)
Defined Contribution Scheme
The Board contributes to a defined contribution scheme for which the amount recognised as an expense in the profit
and loss account was £2,538,799 (2020: £2,483,133). An amount of £237,534 (2020: £205,863) was owed to the
scheme at the year end. Port of Dover Cargo Limited also contributes to a separate defined contribution pension
scheme for which the amount recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account was £92,575 (2020: £103,396).
An amount of £9,067 (2020: £nil) was owed to the scheme at the year end. Dover Developments Limited also
contributes to a separate defined contribution pension scheme for which the amount recognised as an expense in
the profit and loss account was £56,687 (2020: £26,283). An amount of £5,513 was owed to the scheme at the end
of the year (2020: £5,643). COAST Limited also contributes to a separate defined contribution scheme for which the
amount recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account was £8,782 (2020: £4,045). An amount of £710 was
owed to the scheme at the end of the year (2020: £649).

22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The ultimate controlling party of the group is Dover Harbour Board. Key management personnel are considered to
be the executive members identified on pages 42 and 43 as they have the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the group. Details of their compensation is set out on page 39.
Sales of £698,169 (2020: £834,562) were made to Dover Harbour Board by Dover Developments Limited during
the period and sales of £nil (2020: £nil) were made by Dover Harbour Board to Dover Developments Limited. At
the end of the year £116,140 (2020: £65,429) was owed by Dover Harbour Board to Dover Developments Limited
and £nil (2020: £nil) was owed by Dover Developments Limited to Dover Harbour Board. All transactions were
conducted on an arm’s length basis on normal trading terms.
Sales of £1,048,255 (2020: £1,252,976) were made by Dover Harbour Board to Port of Dover Cargo Limited during
the period. Sales of £131,215 (2020: £279,099) were made to Dover Harbour Board by Port of Dover Cargo Limited.
At the end of the year £1,380,446 (2020: £1,674,612) was owed to Dover Harbour Board by Port of Dover Cargo
Limited and £144,898 (2020: £22,034) was owed to Port of Dover Cargo Limited. Included within the amount
owed to Dover Harbour Board was a sum of £1,376,388 (2020:£1,501,850) which represented a loan made to Port
of Dover Cargo Limited upon which interest is charged. All transactions were conducted on an arm’s length basis
on normal trading terms.
Sales of £331,012 (2020: £278,450) were made to Dover Harbour Board and sales of £68,810 (2020: £19,681)
were made to Port of Dover Cargo Limited by COAST Limited during the period. Sales of £3,000 (2020: £3,000)
were made to COAST Limited by Dover Harbour Board. At the end of the year £28,184 (2020: £21,370) was owed
by Dover Harbour Board and £nil (2020: £2,651) was owed by Port of Dover Cargo Limited to COAST Limited
and £12,001 (2020: £22,461) was owed by COAST Limited to Dover Harbour Board including a loan of £nil
(2020:10,000). All transactions were conducted on an arm’s length basis on normal trading terms.
At the end of the year Dover Harbour Board owed amounts for group relief of £115,658, £5,869 and £nil to Port of
Dover Cargo Limited, Dover Developments Limited and COAST Limited respectively. These amounts were £420,018,
£4,990 and £6,090 in 2020.
The loan of £89,869 (2020: £89,869) previously made to Dover Waterfront Limited remains outstanding at the
year end.
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Summary of Five Year Financial Results
Y E A R EN DED 31 DECEM BER 2021
2021
£’000

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Turnover

68,696

61,387

71,451

70,546

65,202

Net operating costs

(57,642)

(60,179)

(58,177)

(61,381)

(54,981)

Operating profit

11,054

1,208

13,274

9,165

10,221

Headline EBITDA
Depreciation and amortisation

26,511
(15,075)

20,310
(16,449)

24,384
(11,686)

25,879
(11,251)

23,771
(11,373)

Headline operating profit

11,436

3,861

12,698

14,628

12,398

Analysed as:

Exceptional maintenance

(2,962)

Adjustment for defined benefit pension cost

-

Exchange (losses)/gains

(198)

(Loss)/profit on disposal of fixed assets

(5)

Asset impairments

-

Gain/(loss) from changes in fair value of
investment property
Professional fees incurred in respect of financing
Other operating income
Operating Profit
Interest payable and similar charges

1,405

(3,074)

(1,866)

(2,008)

(2,734)

(200)

-

(1,847)

-

(609)

1,384

(426)

136

27

5

35

20

-

-

-

-

(1,325)

93

(1,690)

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,378

1,310

960

473

401

11,054

1,208

13,274

9,165

10,221

(3,966)

Income from current asset investments

27

Changes in fair value of investments

-

Other finance costs

(785)

(4,083)
298
(815)

(3,585)
381

(1,617)
64

-

(5)
224

-

(1,161)

(1,044)

(986)

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before
taxation
Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities

6,330

(3,392)

8,909

6,568

9,454

(2,733)

(3,051)

(2,477)

(2,516)

(2,856)

Profit for the financial year

3,597

(6,443)

6,432

4,052

6,598

Summary of Five Year Traffic Statistics
Y E A R EN DED 31 DECEM BER 2021

Passengers

Coaches

Other
tourist
vehicles

Commercial
road haulage
vehicles

Vessels
entering
the Port

2021

3,129,316

4,476

336,296

2,149,595

15,695

2020

4,351,986

11,777

608,767

2,268,525

13,774

2019

11,068,936

73,856

2,000,966

2,397,270

17,286

2018

11,968,835

78,129

2,249,129

2,497,804

17,743

2017

11,863,979

79,638

2,180,611

2,601,162

17,786

This page does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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